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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBE

WORK REVIEW

Looking back at 2023, with the exceptionally complex
international environment, smooth transition from
pandemic prevention and control, and the task of reform
and development of the country becoming difficult and
burdensome, it has been an extraordinary year for corporate
development. The latest edition of “Global Trade Update”
published by United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development showed that global trade would shrink by
about US$1.5 trillion to less than US$31 trillion by the end of
2023. Amidst the post-pandemic recovery, there were huge
differences between the world’s major economies, and the
income gap was also increasing. However, some countries,
such as China, Japan, Brazil, Mexico, Australia, Turkey and
Peru, still achieved export growth.

According to the data published by the International Air
Transport Association (“IATA”), the global aviation industry
maintained a recovery trend in 2023, with a year-on-
year increase of 36.9% in total passenger traffic, further
approaching the pre-pandemic level. In particular, the
international passenger traffic achieved a year-on-year
increase of 41.6%, reaching close to 90% of the pre-
pandemic level. Taking into account the distance traveled,
the air freight volume for the full year of 2023 decreased
by 1.9%, which was an improvement from the previously
expected decrease of 3.8%, mainly due to the surge in
the air freight market after nearly 18 months of recession
and downturn. In the post-pandemic era, the international
logistics industry has already undergone the most difficult
time, but the recovery of the aviation industry is still fragile.
In the future, it is vulnerable to many external factors such
as the global economic situation, geopolitical conflicts and
supply chain tension.

Driven by changes in global trade, industry and consumer
expectations, the international logistics industry is facing
unprecedented challenges and opportunities. In 2023, the
Company adhered to the business philosophy of “focusing
on customer experience in the market and creating value
for customers”, comprehensively improved the core
competitiveness of international products and supply chain
service capabilities, and insisted on increasing investment in
cross-border logistics and technological innovation, and took
a down-to-earth and bold approach to development, so as
to firmly move towards high-quality development. Through
resource integration, network expansion, comprehensive
layout and continuous improvement, we have established
eight product systems. As the logistics warranty and service
tasks for the Asian Games were successfully completed, the
Group created another “first” in the development history of
China’s express logistics industry, and laid a solid foundation
for the goal of becoming a comprehensive international
express logistics supply chain integrator.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

PROSPECTS

The “Global Trade Update” forecasts that global trade will
remain highly uncertain in 2024. IATA predicts a rise of 2%
to 5% in air cargo volumes by 2024. However, with airlines
readjustment after the pandemic, the continued influx of
wide-body passenger aircraft capacity may put pressure on
passenger and freight rates, especially in the Asia Pacific
region. IATA predicts that with the further opening of the
global aviation market and positive industry news from
various countries, the global aviation industry is expected to
maintain a growth momentum in 2024.

Recently, the second session of the China’s 14th National
People’s Congress was grandly held and the Chinese
Government Work Report stated that the expected target of
China’s economic growth this year is around 5%. The report
pointed out that the adverse impact on the development of
foreign trade continued to increase due to the weak recovery
of the world economy, intensified geopolitical conflicts and
rising protectionism and unilateralism. In this context, China
will create a first-class international business environment,
solidly promote the high-quality development of the “Belt and
Road Initiative”, promote the negotiation on version 3.0 of
the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area, deepen multi-bilateral and
regional economic cooperation, create more “Made in China”
brands with international influence, and forge a digital
industrial cluster with international competitiveness. The
Company will accelerate the construction of the international
logistics system, create smart customs, promote the healthy
development of new business forms such as cross-border
e-commerce, optimise the layout of overseas warehouses,
and help foreign trade enterprises reduce costs and improve
efficiency.

In 2024, the Company will comprehensively and deeply
implement the development strategy of “YTO Prosperous
with the World”. We will continue to adhere to the business
philosophy of focusing on market customer experience and
creating value for customers, and build version 2.0 of YTO
International. We will focus on the eight major international
products, realize the transformation from domestic market
to international and domestic integration and coordination,
and shift from a single express delivery and freight service
provider to an integrated, multimodal transportation and
comprehensive supply chain integrator. We will accelerate
the expansion of service network of YTO International,
and achieve the vision of “going global with the Chinese
enterprises”, going global with the cross-border e-commerce
business, and “going global with the Belt and Road Initiative”.
It is expected that in the next three to five years, we will
realize the infrastructure and operation capabilities covering
more countries and overseas subsidiaries. We will focus on
building “Superior and Premium Lines”, formulate market
expansion plans based on the characteristics of regional
markets, and create premium and superior products. The
Company is confident that it will seize market development
opportunities in 2024, increase investment in international
business so as to promote healthy and rapid development of
the Company.
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' CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
TERE

APPRECIATION

| hereby express my gratitude and appreciation to our
Shareholders for their care and guidance, each member of
the Board for their confidence and assistance, as well as our
customers, partners, suppliers and friends for their trust and
supports to the Group. With the full commitment of all staff
members, we look forward to achieving the vision of “The
World is Within Your Reach”.

Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial Results

The Group recorded a revenue of about HK$5,291.6 million
during the FY2023 (FY2022: about HK$6,706.5 million),
representing a decrease of about 21.1% from FY2022. Gross
profit amounted to about HK$481.3 million during the
FY2023 (FY2022: about HK$543.3 million), representing a
decrease of about 11.4% from FY2022. Gross profit margin
during the FY2023 was about 9.1% (FY2022: about 8.1%).
Net profit was about HK$96.5 million during the FY2023
(FY2022: about HK$139.8 million), representing a decrease of
about 31.0% from FY2022 while the net profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company decreased by about
29.2% from FY2022 to about HK$96.8 million during the
FY2023 (FY2022: about HK$136.7 million). The decrease in
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was
mainly attributable to (a) the decrease in demand for ocean
freight services from customers in the ocean freight segment;
and (b) the decrease in freight rates charged to customer due
to increase in supply of air and sea cargo space in 2023.

Segmental Analysis

The Group's core business comprises air and ocean freight
forwarding, complemented by the ancillary and contract
logistics services (including warehousing, distribution and
customs clearance), international express and parcel services
and other businesses (comprising combine shipments,
trucking, general sales agency and hand-carry services). The
comprehensive range of services offered by the Group enables
the Group to meet diverse customers’ needs and provide
cross-selling opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Air Freight

The air freight forwarding business continued to be the
largest business segment of the Group, representing about
54.0% of the Group's total revenue during the FY2023
(FY2022: about 54.9%). It principally involves arranging
shipment upon receipt of booking instructions from
customers, obtaining cargo space from airlines, preparing the
relevant documentation, and upon delivery to the destination,
arranging customs clearance and cargo handling. The Group
has become one of the preferred business partners of
renowned companies from around the world, hailing from
the garment, footwear and electronic industries, delivery of
small parcels for e-commerce business and others. During
the FY2023, the air freight forwarding business recorded
a revenue of about HK$2,857.9 million (FY2022: about
HK$3,681.3 million), representing a decrease of about 22.3%
as compared to that in FY2022. Gross profit of the segment
increased from about HK$156.9 million during the FY2022
to about HK$192.6 million during the FY2023, representing
an increase of about 22.8% as compared to that in FY2022.
Despite a decline in the segment revenue due to weak
upstream demand, the Group was able to achieve a growth
in segment gross profit in adversity, attributing to its excellent
cost control.

Ocean Freight

Contributing about 12.2% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2023 (FY2022: about 25.9%), the ocean
freight forwarding business principally involves organising
shipments, arranging customs clearance and haulage
services. The established relationships with trade partners and
shipping lines, together with the in-house tailored freight
operations system, have enabled the Group to capture the
ocean freight market growth. During the FY2023, revenue
of the ocean freight segment decreased by about 62.7% to
about HK$647.6 million (FY2022: about HK$1,735.6 million).
Gross profit decreased to about HK$130.0 million during the
FY2023 (FY2022: about HK$247.4 million), representing a
decrease of about 47.5% as compared to that in FY2022.
During the FY2023, the Group noted a decrease of tonnage
of about 4% in respect of the ocean freight shipping volume
handled by the Group. The decrease in revenue and profit
contributed by the ocean freight segment was due to the
drop in demand and rate for ocean freight services. As a
result, there was a decline in revenue and gross profit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Ancillary and Contract Logistics Services

Accounting for about 0.7% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2023 (FY2022: about 1.0%), the ancillary and
contract logistics services segment includes warehousing,
distribution and customs clearance. Warehousing includes
pick and pack, labelling, quality inspection, sorting, pickup
and delivery services for export shipments from the shipper’s
location to the outgoing port and delivery of import
shipments from arrival at the incoming port to the consignee’s
location. It is supported by the Group's information
technology platform, which allows customers to conveniently
trace inventory levels, incoming and outgoing shipments
and other information online. Revenue generated from this
segment was about HK$38.4 million during the FY2023
(FY2022: about HK$67.2 million), representing a decrease of
42.9% as compared to that in FY2022, which was mainly due
to the decrease in contract logistics services because of weak
upstream demand.

International Express and Parcel Services

International express and parcel services which mainly
consist of cross-border small parcels business is one of the
Group’'s emerging businesses in recent years and also one
of the Group’s important strategic segments to respond
to the booming of the global cross-border e-commerce. It
represents about 30.8% of the total revenue of the Group
for the FY2023 (FY2022: about 16.5%). The Group pays
continuous attention to the cross-border e-commerce market
and consumer needs, and provides high-quality cross-border
parcel logistic services for e-commerce platforms, merchants,
and consumers. The Group responded actively to changes
in markets and competitive landscapes and continued to
develop the international express and parcel services market
during the FY2023. The revenue achieved a significant
increase of 47.4% from about HK$1,106.2 million in FY2022
to about HK$1,630.5 million in FY2023. During the FY2023,
the Group has completed the delivery of about 140.7 million
units in international express and parcel business (FY2022:
about 112.4 million). During the FY2023, the gross profit
of international express and parcel services increased to
about HK$131.9 million (FY2022: about HK$107.1 million),
representing an increase of about 23.2%, which was primarily
attributable to the continuing cooperation of the Group with
e-commerce platforms as well as the development of new
service routes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Others

Other businesses of the Group include combined shipments,
trucking, general sales agency, e-commerce business, custom
clearance services and hand-carry services, the latter of
which involve time sensitive shipments that allow the Group
to charge higher fees and consequently benefit from higher
profits. During the FY2023, the other businesses recorded
revenue of about HK$117.2 million (FY2022: about HK$116.2
million), representing a modest increase of only 1.0%, which
was basically unchanged as compared to that in FY2022,
and a gross profit of about HK$19.9 million (FY2022: about
HK$13.1 million), representing an increase of 51.9% as
compared to that in FY2022.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group has centralised financing policies and control over
all its operations which enables the Group to have a tight
control of treasury operations and lower average cost of
funds.

The Group's working capital as at 31 December 2023 was
about HK$1,174.0 million, representing an increase of about
7.5% from about HK$1,092.4 million as at 31 December
2022. The current ratio of the Group increased from about
2.11 times as at 31 December 2022 to about 2.35 times as
at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
bank balances and cash amounted to about HK$823.0
million, representing a significant decrease of about 17.6%
from about HK$998.4 million as at 31 December 2022. For
the FY2023, the Group had operating cash outflow of about
HK$245.9 million (FY2022: inflow about HK$698.6 million).
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s outstanding bank
borrowings amounted to HK$0.8 million (as at 31 December
2022: nil). The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total
bank borrowings divided by total equity, was about 0.1% as
at 31 December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: 0%). The
Group will continue to secure financing as and when the
need arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

In light of the nature of the Group's business, the Group is
exposed to various foreign currency risks including RMB, USD,
RM, SGD, THB, INR, EUR, GBP, CAD, JPY, VND, IDR, HUF
AED and TWD among which, RMB, EUR and USD are mostly
used in the Group’s business apart from HK$. Nevertheless,
the Group’s operations are predominately subject to the
fluctuations of RMB since HK$ is pegged to USD. The Group
used certain forward exchange contracts to hedge against
part of its exposure to currency risk during the FY2022. The
Group continued to exercise a strict control policy and did
not engage in any speculative trading in debt securities or
financial derivatives during the FY2023.

Significant Investments

During the FY2023, the Group did not hold any material
investments.

Capital Expenditure Commitments

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
any capital expenditure commitments.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure certain banking facilities
representing guarantees on payment to certain airline
suppliers of the Group for the Group’s cargo space purchase
and bank borrowings granted to the Group:

Financial asset at fair value though EAFEFAEBZE
profit or loss TREE
Pledged bank deposits BHEREITER

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2023, being the end of the reporting
period to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the FY2023, there was no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures of the
Company during the FY2023.

PROSPECTS

According to the latest World Economy Outlook published by
the World Bank in January 2024, it is predicted that the world
economic growth will decline from 2.7% in 2023 to 2.4%
in 2024, and the economic growth is expected to recover to
2.7% in 2025. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) believes
that the global economic growth rate in 2024 will decline
slightly from 3% in 2023 to 2.9%. Although the global
economy is exposed to the impact of many unignorable
macro factors, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about
the global economic development and the Group’s business in
the future on the following major grounds:

Evolution and adjustment of supply and demand
structure of strategic resources alongside with
steady recovery of global economy

The negative factors leading to a significant slowdown in the
global economy are subsiding. For instance, the supply chain
bottleneck is alleviated after the relaxation of the pandemic
prevention measures, and the chaos in the energy and
food markets caused by the war is dissipating. Against the
backdrop of a steady recovery of the global economy, Asian
economies will jointly maintain the stability of the industrial
and supply chain, and constantly promote the economic
integration process in the region, which will provide important
support for the stability and growth of the global economy.

According to the World Bank’s forecast, developed economies
are expected to grow by 1.2% in 2024 and 1.6% in 2025.
Emerging markets and developing economies are expected
to grow by 3.9% in 2024 and 4.0% in 2025. World Bank
believes that under the current situation, global cooperation is
needed to provide debt relief and promote trade integration.
For emerging markets and developing economies, appropriate
macroeconomic policies and good institutional systems
are essential to promote investment growth and long-
term development. Based on the above forecast, the Group
believes that even though the overall momentum of the
global macro economy is insufficient, with the changes in the
supply and demand structure of global strategic resources,
as well as the reshaping of the global industrial and supply
chain in various countries, the international trade recovery is
expected to boost the global economy.

—E=FFR EBE

RAIRBERTA 2ERRER

ER
11|

T__FURFE SEEMEANE
EXRAMBAR BEARHEZED

°EE|\

Al =

BEMRIBTIAMEMOZT — 8 (25
%@ R RETER R B RGR
fziaﬁm% EE T UFEH2.4%

ThHFREERELEMET2.7% - H
““%ﬁé@%Umew P ZECF
iﬁwﬁﬁﬁfhﬁ_7_2¢M%M¢a
THEE29% - BEERHRLERMBEEZ 1]
PENEERAEZZE BREEKRAE XK
CESRREALREBEBRITEELEEE
TERBATLERE:

EREEARIEH BRERHKSE
BELHE

=B

BYREERNBERENEERXREEER
NS E L EEIRSEER B FEHN
BERMREEMEREE EE B E2REHE
BAXEHNSs T DM EREERHEE
EEMHEEET BEHERRNEE Bt
ER BARMEEETRHEREHESY
%o

RIFHRIEFITIEN —F N FEE L 5EE
BB RI2% —E-_RAFEFEEE
1.6% - FTEMIFMEBERPLER _T _IOF
TEEH G IS K3.9% :2155@#&‘%40%0
HITRE EEREET TE2KAEXR
hfﬁﬁﬂﬁ,ﬁtﬁ%—mm A i
MEMERPLEREME  BENREBLE
ﬁ%u&ﬂ%m%%ﬂFQMEﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ
MEHBEEZEHEZ-ERN LMTEA AE
BERAEUA LB EHANEESHNIZE B
BEEZRIRBBEERRELEES L SE2K
F%&ﬁﬁ%éﬁ HEE H1EEAE 2RIk
£ II Iz\«<

BEREHEENERRAR - 13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Accelerating the development of quality
productivity and facilitating core industries in
high-quality export

According to the statistics of the China Customs, the total
value of China’s imports and exports of trade in goods
was RMB41.76 trillion in 2023, representing a year-on-year
increase of 0.2%. In particular, the total value of exports was
RMB23.77 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of
0.6%, and the total value of imports was RMB17.99 trillion,
representing a decrease of 0.3%. In general, the imports
and exports of trade in goods were better than expected
and have achieved the goal of promoting stability and
quality improvement. Although the complexity, severity and
uncertainty of the external environment have increased, the
trend of China’s economic recovery has not changed, and the
elements and conditions supporting high-quality development
are still increasing.

In view of the above, the Group believes that China’s
foreign trade exports are still positive in the long term,
and as an international logistics and supply chain industry
player, there is still a large market space. As the Chinese
government continues to drive the improvement of foreign
trade quality and stability, increase the efforts in attracting
foreign investment, promote the in-depth and practical
implementation of high-quality co-construction of the “Belt
and Road”, and deepen the bilateral and regional economic
cooperation such as RCEP, it is believed that the cultivation
of new momentum for China’s trade development will be
accelerated, and the foundation for stable growth, quality
improvement and efficiency in imports and exports will be
further consolidated. Accordingly, the Group will further
implement key strategic measures, actively serve the core
industrial chain and fully integrate with the upstream and
downstream supply chain enterprises and e-commerce
platforms. By fully capitalising the Group’s supply chain,
aviation and parent group’s resource advantages, it will help
the “Made in China” brand go global, and assist in building
a technology-based, digital and integrated international
industrial cluster. In view of the above, the Group will focus
on the following aspects such as network, quality control and
technology:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Orderly expanding international service network
and overall planning of network operation layout

The Company will adhere to the principle of “network
first” (#8345 &%) and “one network at home and abroad,
international development first, network operation should be
synchronised” ("Bl A EIBR — ok 48 - BIFR B R E(E 0% - K2 &
ZF P ). With the vision and goal of “The World is Within
Your Reach” ("t R A FHFIFEF 15" ), “China Connects the
World and the World Connects the World” (*# Bl Bttt 5 «
R Bt R ), the Company will build an international and
domestic integrated one-stop service and network operation
system, and build a global integrated logistics network with a
global vision and layout.

The global network layout will take the “one main and
nine centres, 3 + 3" ("—=E LH{ 3+3") as the key nodes;
with Jiaxing's " J7 K& " as the global aviation core
hub and multimodal transport centre, Macau (Hengqin),
Hefei, Yiwu, Guangzhou, Kunming, Nanning, Haikou, Suifen
River and Horgos as the domestic comprehensive hubs; Los
Angeles, Rio, Sydney, Bangkok, Dubai and Budapest as the
international core nodes; and the air-sea multimodal transport
system as the international trunk line to build a “backbone
+ network” ("B #+#4%" ) network structure radiating
the world. The construction of the "S5 K& " project in
Jiaxing was in full swing, which will be completed in 2024,
and put into full operation in 2025. It will fully bear fruit from
2026 and will be a world-connected infrastructure within 3 to
5 years to achieve global connectivity.

In 2024, the Company will build a “Superior and Premium
Line” ("B HELR" ), including Taiwan, Japan, Australia,
the United States, Southeast Asia, Central Asia (Kazakhstan),
etc., to promote express delivery, freight, and supply chain
businesses catering to local needs. At the same time, the
Company will accelerate the expansion of international
network. Through various modes such as strategic
cooperation, franchise licensing, investment and merge
and acquisition, the Company will attract more high-quality
partners in the region to join its network, so as to enhance
the Company’s global service capabilities. Last but not least,
the Company will continue to increase resource investment
in the above strategic direction, accomplish resource sharing
and capability exchange with partners, and achieve in-depth
cooperation in international express and small parcel business,
air charter, warehousing and logistics, international supply
chain and other aspects. It is expected that in the next three
to five years, the Company will acquire the infrastructure and
operation capabilities covering major countries and overseas
subsidiaries in the world.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Improving the quality control standard system
process and formulating the whole life cycle of
quality control system

The Company will adhere to quality first and maintain
the policy of “safety, quick, convenience, reliability and
technology” as the core. The quality management system
of international logistics is established to make international
logistics as an important link connecting the global supply
chain and it becomes crucial to the quality management
of products. The Company will formulate an information-
based quality control system for the whole life cycle of
public rail, sea and air freight + warehouse and trunk
customs distribution. The Company will establish a complete
management standard, system process and performance
appraisal system.

Firstly, the Group will make clear the product quality
standards and requirements, follow international quality
standards, and ensure that product packaging, transportation
and other sessions are complied with their respective
quality standards. Secondly, a sound supplier management
mechanism will be established. There are many suppliers
involved in international logistics, and strict quality control
and evaluation are required for each supplier. High-quality
suppliers are strictly screened to ensure stable and reliable
product quality. Thirdly, a standardized logistics operation
process will be established. The logistics process involves
multiple links, and it is necessary to establish a standardized
operation process, including warehousing management,
loading and unloading operations, and transportation route
selection, to ensure that the links in the logistics process are
under control. Finally, the Group will optimize and improve
the information technology, organizational structure, facilities
and equipment and other systems and processes, realize more
efficient resource allocation and management, and promote
the “collaborative action” of each segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Comprehensively upgrade core business systems
and strengthen the application of technology
systems

Continuously increasing investment in science and technology
is the key starting point for the Company to promote business
development. The Company’s constant strategy to improve
operational efficiency and service quality through digital
transformation remains unchanged. With the promotion
and deployment of the Company's core business systems
such as International King Kong (B &4 l) and global
freight forwarding, the Company will continue to accelerate
the construction of the international data middle platform,
upgrade and create user-end software for international
business, which in turn will further improve the business
efficiency and service quality of the Company as well as
provide strong support for new business expansion. Based
on the existing scientific and technological research and
development advantages and rich industrial practices, the
Company will build a logistics cloud platform to promote
the interconnection of logistics elements and information.
Through the connection of air, rail and sea freights, domestic
and international and other logistics elements, the Company
will break the information island, promote the smooth flow of
information, increase the proportion of multimodal transport,
and achieve the goal of “Connecting the World (Bt 25k @
2IK) " eventually.

Looking forward, the Company believes that the international
logistics and supply chain industry is a technology-intensive
industry. How to provide enterprises and consumers with
safe, convenient, efficient and intelligent logistics services
will be one of the important factors for the Company’s future
core competitiveness. The Company hopes to further increase

Bl &= (@)

PHARBOEBRRAS BENKRS
FE P 3% 3t

Tiii?mﬂﬂﬁhka’“TT&@J%F?‘&E’]@
BIF - Lﬂ%{%{tﬁﬁ”ﬁﬂk B EﬁiHE
BmENTEARTENER BEEAR
BReh-2%E Tkﬁﬁ/b\%i‘k%?ﬁﬂﬁﬁi_ E
E-TEHMREBRERP SRR ARIT
BEEREBNBPIREE #E—PRADQT
MEBXE RBERE BHAZXEQAFSE
NEBHIE - RABERBEEREEESD
ﬂ]iﬁ?%iﬁﬁs ?TL@%?E%MLE%%TEHE
ELE’]%/}IL = BBEEREEEA

.W. ELEMREER ﬂ@ié%ﬂ%ﬂ%
TE?E%E’W%%*%H&T B RIRE
BRI BEIRHER

HEAR RBRAEBRE YR EHEETE
—EARMEERTE A ALE HE
FREZO EE 28 SE209VRRGE
QxEé/ATEEPH?/u SEINEEREZ —-
NAHEE—FTRALREENEA FE
iﬁﬁ%%‘ REFEKFRLE BERAREE

investment in technology, consolidate existing businesses, &5 o 72 51§ 18 38 ¥ 1 & &l H4l7 « i§$t“’
promote the development of new businesses, and multiply the ~— FE % A T Ffirda & - Fr i a8 - Bofr s
value of the Company. The Company will invest in information 38 - # &) 2 &) {& # B B %fﬁﬁ%%@m% B
technology and cloud platform to achieve technology output, Fr#& &YW R
technology empowerment and technology realization, and
drive the transformation of the Company from a traditional
international logistics supply chain enterprise into a logistics
technology enterprise.

“ECCHFFHR BRBEBRREHE#ESEERAR 17



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

International passenger and cargo flights steadily
increase with air freight market further picking up

According to the World Tourism Barometer newly published
by the World Tourism Organization, the tourism industry
contributed approximately US$3.3 trillion to the global gross
domestic products (“GDP"”) in 2023, accounting for 3% of
the total global GDP. Revenue from international travel was
approximately US$1.4 trillion, approximately 93% of that of
2019 before the COVID-19 pandemic. Total export revenue
from tourism (including passenger transport) is expected to be
US$1.6 trillion, approximately 95% of that of 2019 before the
COVID-19 pandemic. As of 2023, international tourism has
returned to 88% of the pre-pandemic level, and the number
of international tourists is expected to reach 1.3 billion.

According to the statistics of the International Air Transport
Association (IATA), the total air passenger volume (in terms
of revenue passenger kilometers or RPKs) in 2023 increased
by 36.9% compared with 2022, and the global air passenger
volume recovered to 94.1% of that in 2019 before the
pandemic. In 2023, the international passenger transportation
volume increased by 41.6% compared with 2022, reaching
88.6% of the level in 2019. Regular data from the global
air cargo market shows that air cargo demand picked up in
2023, particularly in the fourth quarter, despite economic
uncertainties. Global air cargo demand in December 2023
increased by 10.8% compared to 2022 (up 11.5% in
international demand), the strongest annual growth in
the past two years, indicating that the air cargo market is
stabilizing and the demand is becoming more normalized.

The Company is of the opinion that with the recovery of
international tourism, the recovery of international trade and
the vigorous development of cross-border e-commerce, the
demand for air freight will exceed the growth of trade and
production. YTO Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (“YTO Airlines"),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the parent company, will
continue to be a prominent advantage of the Company in the
air freight business. The Company is also willing to further
consolidate its competitive advantage in the international air
transportation sector by strengthening the linkage with the
resources of the parent company. The Company will continue
to deepen its cooperation with YTO Airlines, and achieve new
breakthroughs in the field of air freight by introducing wide-
body cargo freighters to build more intercontinental aviation
routes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Create shared strategic infrastructure and build
global supply chain service capabilities

Supply chain is an organisational form that is oriented to
customer demand, aims to improve quality and efficiency,
and integrates logistics, capital flow and information flow as
a means to achieve efficient synergy in the whole process of
product design, procurement, production, sales and service. It
is of great significance to improve efficiency, reduce costs and
accelerate the construction of a new development pattern,
which is related to the stability and safety of the national
economy. The express logistics industry is an important
support for extending the industrial chain, enhancing the
value chain and building the supply chain, and is a basic and
strategic facility to ensure the stability of the industrial chain
and supply chain.

Through business investment and transformation and
construction in recent years, the Company has gradually
formed three major business segments, namely international
freight forwarding, international express delivery and small
parcels, and international supply chain. While achieving
the operation of three business segments in parallel, the
Company also expects the three major business segments
to achieve endogenous synergy and achieve new upgrading
of the Company’s capabilities and business. The Company
will accelerate the construction of supply chain capabilities
around the world through capital investment and business
partner cooperation, and accelerate investment in local
transportation, warehousing and logistics in key regions
such as Central Asia, Europe, America, the Middle East and
Southeast Asia, so as to promote the Company’s end-to-end
international supply chain solutions and form a new business
development segment of the Company to achieve further
growth in revenue and profit.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEECEHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Xinwei (“Mr. Yang”), aged 47, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 31 March 2022. With effect
from 9 December 2022, Mr. Yang was re-designated as an
executive Director. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business administration from Xidian University ( 78 % & &l
FAKE)in June 2016. Mr. Yang joined YTO Express Group
in May 2000 and held various senior managerial positions in
various subsidiaries and the aviation division of YTO Express
Group. Since July 2015, Mr. Yang has been a vice president of
YTO Express Co., Ltd. (ElfBRIEHBPRAF), a subsidiary of
YTO Express. From June 2021, Mr. Yang has been designated
by YTO Express Group to oversee the overall strategy planning
of the Company and business development of international
express. Mr. Yang is the cousin-in-law of the spouse of Mr. Yu
Huijiao, the chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director
and controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Yang was interested in 800,000
Shares. Please refer to the section headed “Directors’ and
chief executive's interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Zhou Jian ("Mr. Zhou"), aged 46, was appointed as
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer on
28 March 2024. Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree
in Communications Engineering from the Department of
Electronic and Information Engineering of Huazhong University
of Science and Technology in June 1998 and a master's degree
in Science and Technology in Signal and Information Service
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology in June
2001. Mr. Zhou joined YTO Express in January 2024 and
currently serves as the vice president of YTO Express Co., Ltd.
(ElBREABRAAF), a subsidiary of YTO Express. Prior to
joining YTO Express Group, Mr. Zhou held various positions in
Hangzhou BEST Network Technologies Co., Ltd.* (f/H & tt 43
T AR A A]) (“Hangzhou BEST”), a consolidated variable
interest entity of BEST Inc., a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (stock code: BEST) from 2008 to 2020. He was
the director of carrier resources management of Hangzhou
BEST from October 2008 to October 2010, the vice president
and group director and general manager of express division of
Hangzhou BEST from November 2010 to December 2016, and
the senior vice president and general manager of international
division of Hangzhou BEST from January 2017 to March 2020,
respectively. From March 2020 to September 2021, Mr. Zhou
was the assistant chief marketing officer of Shenzhen S.F.
Taisen Holding (Group) Co. Ltd.* CRYIIELRFRIE (£EE) A
[ 2 7)), a subsidiary of S.F. Holding Co., Ltd. (“S.F. Holding”),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002352). In September 2020, Mr. Zhou was re-designated
as the chief executive officer of Shenzhen Fengwang Express
Co., Ltd.* (RINL MR E AR A A]), another subsidiary of S.F.
Holding, and served until December 2023.

Mr. Zhou has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 21 March 2024 and he has
confirmed that he understood his obligations as a director of
a listed issuer.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EESREAREERZHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huijiao (“Mr. Yu"”), aged 57, was appointed as
a non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained
a bachelor's degree in information systems application and
management from BN EFE T K2 (PLA Information
Engineering University*) in December 2013. Mr. Yu founded
B@EEESEMR QA (YTO Express Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as LE/BE@EEAFR AT (Shanghai Yuantong
Express Delivery Co., Ltd.*)), a subsidiary of YTO Express,
in May 2000 and currently serves as the chairman of the
board of YTO Express. Mr. Yu has served as the chairman of
the board of Yuantong Jiaolong since December 2010 and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong since June 2020.
He has served as vice president of the General Association
of Zhejiang Entrepreneurs since December 2022. Mr. Yang
Xinwei, who is an executive Director, is the cousin-in-law of
the spouse of Mr. Yu.

As of 31 December 2023, Mr. Yu was interested in
268,229,408 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (“Mr. Pan”), aged 56, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 January 2020 and the chairman
of Corporate Governance Committee on 21 August 2023,
and a member of the Audit Committee on 8 February 2023
and resigned as a member of the Audit Committee on 31
March 2023. Mr. Pan obtained a master degree in engineering
from Zhejiang University in January 1991. From July 2006 to
February 2012, Mr. Pan served as president of /L& HEE
BMR AT (Zhejiang Wanma Group Company Limited*) and
chalrman of MIEKFEERMDBMR AR (Zhejlang Wanma
Cable Company Limited*). From March 2012 to March 2019,
Mr. Pan had been acting as the director, executive director
and managing director of /8 E#% ¥ AIREREF L
(Shanghai Yunfeng New Venture Capital Investment Center*).
Mr. Pan joined YTO Express as a director in October 2016 and
was appointed as president of YTO Express since April 2019.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEB2HE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Wang Lixiu (“Ms. Wang"), aged 46, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
on 31 March 2023. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in
English from Faculty of Foreign Languages, Ningbo University*

(B KEHNEEPR) in June 2000 and a master’s degree in
Linguistics and Applied Linguistics in Guangdong University
of Foreign Studies* (BRI FBINEKZ)in June 2003.

Ms. Wang is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, with around 20 years of experience in
auditing, financial management and corporate investment and
merger and acquisition. Ms. Wang joined YTO Express Group
in December 2022 and currently serves as the vice president
of YTO Express. Prior to joining YTO Express Group, Ms. Wang
was an audit senior manager in KPMG Huazhen LLP from July
2003 to December 2013. Ms. Wang held various positions in
subsidiaries of S.F. Holding from 2013 to 2021. She served
as the finance director from December 2013 to March
2020, and was re-designated as the chief financial officer of
international business unit in S.F. Holding and served until
December 2021.

Mr. Su Xiufeng (“Mr. Su”), aged 49, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 August 2023. He obtained a
bachelor's degree in English from Guangzhou Institute of
Foreign Languages* (M SNEIZE 2P ) in June 1995 and
a master's degree in business administration from the City
University of Seattle (EBIFHEEH T AE*) in September
2006. Mr. Su joined YTO Express in December 2015 and
served as the vice president of YTO Express from 17 October
2016 to 16 October 2019, and he currently serves as a
director and the vice chairman of Yuantong Jiaolong and the
chairman of YTO Cargo. Mr. Su served as a non-executive
Director from 1 December 2017 to 21 January 2020. Prior
to joining YTO Express Group, Mr. Su served as the chief
executive officer of Zhejiang Loong Airlines Co., Ltd* (J#f)T
KEEMZE=ABR A A]) (previously known as CDI Cargo Airlines
Co., Ltd* (REBBEEMZ=AEAMRAF)) from November
2011 to April 2013 and he joined Yuantong Jiaolong in May
2013.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EESREAREERZHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Donghui (“Mr. Li"), aged 53, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee on 1 December 2017.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in philosophy from Renmin
University of China in July 1991, a master’s degree in
management engineering from dt R T % 28t (Beijing
Institute of Machinery*) in June 1997, and a master’s degree
in business administration from Kelley School of Business
of Indiana University in March 2010. Since Mr. Li has joined
the group companies of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited
("Geely"”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0175), in July 2016, he has worked for
various positions and currently serves as an executive director
and vice chairman of Geely. He currently also serves as the
chief executive officer of Zhejiang Geely Holding Group. Prior
to joining Geely, Mr. Li served as the vice president and chief
financial officer of Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd,
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000528), between December 2009 and March 2011.
Between May 2014 and June 2016, Mr. Li served various
positions including as a director and the vice chairman of it
REAFEMBRRERMDER AT (Beijing Orient Landscape &
Environment Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as it 5 7 & #k
BB AF), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002310). He served as a director of
ST ST EER R BB A7) (Zhejiang Qianjiang Motorcycle Co.
Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000913), until April 2018. Mr. Li served as an
independent director of f & R¥ER DB R A7 (China
CYTS Holding Co., Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600138), until May 2020. Mr. Li
was appointed as director of Volvo Car AB in April 2012
and it became listed on Nasdaq Stockholm in October 2021.
Mr. Li was also appointed as director of Polestar Automotive
Holding UK PLC in June 2022 and it became listed on Nasdaq
in June 2022. Mr. Li was appointed as non-executive director
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AML), a company listed on the London Stock Exchange, in
July 2023.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEB2HE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Xu Junmin ("Mr. Xu"), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor's degree
in electromagnetic engineering from _t & &l 2317 A &
(Shanghai University of Science and Technology*) in July
1987 and a master's degree in business administration from
Arizona State University in May 2009. Mr. Xu had served
as an independent director of /&R KR KD ER A A
(Shanghai Richtech Engineering Co., Ltd.*), a company listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 832547), from July 2016 to December 2018. He had
also served as an independent director of & 895HEE T
BB AF (CWB Automotive Electronics Co. Ltd.*) (stock
code: 605005, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange since January 2021) from June 2018 to May 2021.
Mr. Xu held various positions in the group companies of /&
HEEMZERHD B R AR (Juneyao Airlines Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as EEEEMEBR 2 A) (“Juneyao Airlines”),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603885), including a director of JLJTMZEABR A& (9
Air Company Limited*). He has been serving as the board
secretary and a director of Juneyao Airlines since November
2010 and July 2017 respectively. In November 2019, Mr. Xu
ceased to be a director of Juneyao Airlines. He also served
as a director and the vice president of Juneyao Airlines from
August 2020 to August 2023 and from November 2019 to
August 2023, respectively. He also served as an independent
director of EESIUEHERMBER R E (Shanghai Stonehill
Technology Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as /& — =0 FH 4
IR E B DB R A A (Shanghai 2345 Network Holding
Group Co. Ltd.*)), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002195) from May 2016 to May 2022.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (“Mr. Chung”), aged 55, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Macquarie University in April
1992 and is a member of CPA Australia and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 20
years of experience in auditing, financial management and
corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur
Andersen (an international accounting firm) from 1992 to
1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung held several senior management
positions, including chief financial officer, executive director
and independent non-executive director, in a number of
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is currently
an independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange: (i) BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (stock code: 285) since June
2013; (ii) Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 3363) since March 2011; (iii) B & S International
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705) since February 2018; and
(iv) Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (stock code: 1939)
since September 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Pui Wah (“Ms. Wong"), aged 48, is the
chief financial officer of the Company and the Company
Secretary. She is responsible for overall financial and banking
management and overall human resources and administrative
management of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
March 2006 and worked as an accounting manager. She
became the financial controller of the Group since August
2006. She was an executive Director on 20 December 2013
to 1 December 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wong
had acquired auditing and accounting experiences by working
in various accountancy firms which include Frank Ho & Co.,
Y.L. Ngan & Company, C.W. Leung & Co. and RSM Nelson
Wheeler (currently known as RSM Hong Kong) from June
1998 to March 2006. She has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Wong
graduated from Lingnan College (currently known as Lingnan
University) with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
in November 1998. She also obtained a master's degree in
professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2010. She is a non-practising
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Wong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. In September 2022, Ms. Wong
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0144).
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(continued)

Ms. Khoo Siew Chan Chorina (“Ms. Khoo"), aged 54, is
the regional director for Southeast Asia of the Group. She
is responsible for setting the business strategy and direction
as well as overseeing the business growth and operations
of various branches in the Southeast Asia region. Ms. Khoo
first joined the Group in November 2015 as the Managing
Director for our Singapore office but left in May 2020 to
pursue alternative interests. She re-joined the Group in July
2021. Ms. Khoo obtained a bachelor of science degree in
business and management studies from University of Bradford
in July 1998. She has 20 years of experience in the logistics
and freight forwarding industry, of which 13 years was spent
working for a Nasdag-listed company holding management
positions including overseeing the Singapore office as
managing director with an operations of more than 300
people.

Mr. Ng King Wah, Kevin (“Mr. Ng”), aged 43, is the trade
lane director of the Group. He is responsible for the overseas
network of the Group and overseeing the development,
sales and profitability of the commercial activities with the
international partners of the Group. He joined the Group in
2004 as operations executive and became sales executive and
route development manager from 2006 to 2015. Then he was
promoted as regional commercial manager and trade lane
manager from 2015 to 2020. He was appointed as head of
trade lane management in 2021. Mr. Ng has been working in
logistics industry locally and regionally for 20 years.

Mr. Tang Chi Ho (“Mr. Tang”), aged 43, is the Hong Kong
station manager of the Group. He has been with the Group
since August 2001 and Mr. Tang held different position in
Hong Kong station’s air freight department during August
2001 to March 2014. He has been the Group's operations
manager from April 2014 to September 2019 where he was
responsible for air freight operational matters. Since October
2019, Mr. Tang was promoted to the Hong Kong station
manager of the Group and is responsible for the operational
matters in Hong Kong. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business management from University of Wolverhampton in
September 2008.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the FY2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under
the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 6 March 2013.
The Shares were listed on 11 July 2014 on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. The Company acts as an investment
holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are provision of freight forwarding services. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year, other than the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Plan, as set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” of this Directors’
Report, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreement.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the FY2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 94.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK2.3 cents (2022: HK3.3 cents) per Share, absorbing a total
amount of about HK$9,664,000 (2022: HK$13,866,000), in
respect of the FY2023, which is subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the AGM to be held on Friday, 7 June
2024. The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on
Monday, 8 July 2024 to all Shareholders whose names to be
appeared on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 20 June 2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of the Company’s
net profits as dividends to the Shareholders. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations,
the Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders taking into account the following:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans; and
interests of Shareholders.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 245. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year, which
includes particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and "MD&A”
in this annual report. In addition, an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators is
included in the section headed “MD&A"” in this annual report
and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group is included in the section headed “MD&A" and
notes 4, 6, 37 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. The review forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environment protection

The Group complies with environmental legislation,
encourages environmental protection and promotes its
awareness to all employees of the Group. The Group commits
to the principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To
help conserve the environment, it implements green office
practices such as re-deployment of office furniture as far
as possible, encouraging use of recycled paper for printing
and copying, double-sided printing and copying, setting up
recycling bins, reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.
The Group will review its environmental practices from time
to time and consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures, sustainability targets and practices in the operation
of the Group’'s businesses to embrace the principles of
reducing, recycling and reuse, and further minimize the
impact on the natural environment.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success also depends on the support from our
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers,
vendors and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise high-
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are engaged in garment,
footwear and electronic industries and delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business. The Group has the mission
to provide excellent customer service in air freight and sea
freight and all range of logistic services whilst maintaining
long term profitability, business and asset growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group in the provision of
excellent customer service towards market penetration and
expansion.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Relationships with key stakeholders (continued)
Vendors

Sound relationships with key service vendors of the Group
are important in supply chain, airline company, shipping line
company and business agents and when meeting business
challenges and regulatory requirements, which can derive cost
effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance
corporate value to Shareholders. The Group is committed
to fostering business developments for achieving the
sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders
by stable dividend payouts, taking into account of capital
adequacy levels, liquidity positions and business expansion
needs of the Group.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and
regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are
reviewed regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the FY2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not hold any
properties for development and/or sale or investment
purposes which exceeds 5% of the percentage ratios as
calculated under rule 14.04(9) of the Listing Rules.

The decrease in the fair value of the investment properties
which has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the FY2023
amounted to HK$277,000.

The decrease in the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment which has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the FY2023 amounted to HK$65,000.

Details of these and other movements in the investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
FY2023.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed about 978
employees (as at 31 December 2022: about 867 employees).
During the FY2023, employee costs, including Directors’
remuneration, was about HK$276,285,000 (2022: about
HK$302,478,000). Remuneration packages are generally
structured to market terms, individual qualifications and
experience. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme and a share award plan for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants, including the
employees of the Group, who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Training activities have also been
conducted to improve the performance of sales and marketing
activities and customer services.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’'s listed securities
during the FY2023.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the FY2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's distributable reserve as at 31 December
2023 as calculated under the Companies Act (As Revised),
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised), of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$440,033,000 (2022:
HK$439,455,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the FY2023 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Xinwei

Mr. Zhou Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 28 March 2024)

Mr. Sun Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 28 March 2024)

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Resigned on 21 August 2023)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman)
Mr. Pan Shuimiao
Ms. Wang Lixiu (Appointed on 31 March 2023)

Mr. Su Xiufeng (Appointed on 21 August 2023)

Mr. Chen Dong (Resigned on 8 February 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Yang Xinwei, Mr. Zhou
Jian, Mr. Pan Shuimiao, Mr. Su Xiufeng and Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John will retire at the forthcoming AGM and all of
them, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares

34

Name of Director

EEHRR

Mr. Yu Huijiao

e & 52 5T A

Mr. Sun Jian (Resigned on
28 March 2024)

BERE (RZZFEZF
= A=+ /NHEFHE)

Mr. Yang Xinwei
BFERE

Ms. Wang Lixiu
TEFLL

Notes:

Capacity/nature of interest

B fEEHE

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 1)

RiEEEe R (i)

Beneficial owner (Note 2)

Emma A (Hi72)

Beneficial owner

BEalEB A

1. These Shares are held by YTO Global Holdings Limited, a
company wholly owned by Yuan Jun. Yuan Jun is a company
wholly owned by YTO Express, which is in turn controlled as
to 31.69% by Yuantong Jiaolong, 2.92% by Mr. Yu Huijiao
and 2.15% by his spouse, Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. Yuantong
Jiaolong is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao
and 49% by Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Yu Huijiao and Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan are deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by YTO Global Holdings

Limited.

+—8" %%&K
UNCIERSREVEE:D
78 2 E{%W%XV*B)ZHX
HoHERDEEEZETHEERBEESR
Hﬂ“ﬂ%%%%ﬂ%?ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ“ FTHEZER
MAZzEZRXE - &$Eﬁim%ﬁﬁlJMTff*
C3FMERESFAIMASITME AR
R ZEZEABIT ¢

(A) REBRZHR

Approximate

Number of percentage* of
Shares involved shareholding
Rz BARR
il 4E| Elal:ad
268,229,408 63.84%
2,068,800 0.49%
800,000 0.19%
80,000 0.02%

Miat

1. ZEBRHBHEH2ERB 2 ARIER
BERIERERATRAE -BHHEBR
E2EHRA  MEBRESHERRE
31.69% R AEEWAEERARB
RN A 1R $2.92% K2 2.15% A% HE o
BRREA—FXAMTBILERTZ
BiBR/NEL LD RIEB51%M49%
BetEr AR IRIEFSRBEEG - H
CRAERKRNDBRZEIWEARER
EEIERBRARBEZRGOTHES
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEWRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares (continued)

(B)

Notes: (continued)

2.

These Shares comprise (i) 60,000 Shares held by Mr. Sun
Jian; and (ii) 2,008,800 Shares which represented the
interests in award shares granted by the Company on 10
June 2021 and remain unvested. Mr. Sun Jian resigned as an
executive Director on 28 March 2024.

Long position in the shares of associated
corporations of the Company

(A) REBRZFE (&)
Wzt (4)

(B)

Name of
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest
Espg HEEEER 5t/ BELE
Mr. Yu Huijiao YTO Express Interest of controlled corporations
BERLE El&RE REEENER
Beneficial owner
BEREBA
Interest of spouse
i 5
Yuan Jun Interest of controlled corporations
E# REEESER
YTO Global Holdings Interest of controlled corporations
Limited
ERBARZERERRAR SXEFENER
Mr. Pan Shuimiao ~ YTO Express Beneficial owner
EKE R E &R E EREBA

Note: The relations between Mr. Yu Huijiao and the above

associated corporations are set out in note 1 of part (A)
of the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation”. YTO Global Holdings Limited, YTO Express
and Yuan Jun are the direct/indirect holding companies of
the Company. In this connection, YTO Express, Yuan Jun and
YTO Global Holdings Limited are associated corporations of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided

by the number of issued shares or registered capital of the
Company/associated corporation as at 31 December 2023.

2.

ZE AP B E) 60,0000% B0 B H
S ¥ K (i) 2,008,800% A% 1) 15 24
ARR-_ZE-_—FXNA+AEENMD
AEBENEBRMD IS - FREER
CE_NE=A-_+N\BHEIHTE
$o

RAEQXFRBZEARG ZHFR

involved/amount of

Number of shares Approximate

percentage* of

registered capital shareholding
FyR2RABE/ AR
AMRAEHE BAtk*
1,090,806,213 31.69%
100,673,929 2.92%
74,027,054 2.15%
RMB1,800,000,000 100.00%

AR #1,800,000,0007C
1,600,000,000 100.00%
1,200,800 0.03%

an

Bt e ST A ER b uh AR B A B 6 B AR

RIEERBZERITHRABRARAHE
o] AR B R B 2 B ~ AR B B D e (B 4 5E
R RKR ] —BARE S HTEE ©
BB B R A R A B~ Bl R R K B
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” below, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the FY2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below and in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the FY2023 or at any time
during the FY2023.

EENBESTHRAEBRERATHME
MEBEIE 2R HERORE
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EEVWBERONEERENEFR

BT XX THE R T 81 R [ R fp 22 &t &1
EHABEEN RFREMNEE ARQF
o AT AP B A A2 B AT 2 B B
FEFAEBEARARTAEMEASR
BOROREREMAAES B
i@ﬂﬁ%1Z+)\52LATE’J%1UEHEEH$E%U
RBARAES IARER_FT_=FH
E&Erﬂﬁlﬁtlﬁ%ﬂ

EERRG RHIASHNES

BRTIXHEBERXS | EHAREA B
WA EA3ATBEEIN AR Tiﬁ&ﬂ
Pﬁ% RSN ST P VAR S S

TFUREERR T _=—FUHF
TW&HHTFWE%E& BEE R HEE
ERERAMEREEEARANERRS
ZHERAH -

36 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors
throughout the FY2023 and as at the date of approval of
this Directors’ Report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and
expenses incurred by the Director in connection with any legal
proceedings in which he/she is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of
which indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or
dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has maintained
insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis. During the FY2023, no claims were made against the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Donghui,
Mr. Xu Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (each an
independent non-executive Director), have been appointed for
a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2017, which
shall be automatically renewable for successive terms of one
year each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current term of appointment unless terminated by giving
not less than three months’ written notice by either party.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as non-executive
Directors by the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing from 21 January 2020, which shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until terminated
by not less than three month's written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term or thereafter.

Mr. Yang Xinwei has been appointed as an executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 9
December 2022, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Ms. Wang Lixiu has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
31 March 2023, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of her appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Su Xiufeng has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing
from 21 August 2023, renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year each commencing from
the day immediately after the expiry of the then current
term of appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein, or by
not less than three months’ written notice served by
either party expiring at the end of the initial term of his
appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Zhou Jian has been appointed as an executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 28
March 2024, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the
termination provisions therein, or by not less than three
months’ written notice served by either party expiring at
the end of the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders
on 21 June 2014 (the "“Share Option Scheme Adoption
Date”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the
Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to
participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years after the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date and
shall expire on 21 June 2024. As at the date of this report,
the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is less than 3
months.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted
by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “General Scheme
Limit”). As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the
date of this report, the number of options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme was 37,218,000. As at 1
January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the date of this report,
the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme was 37,218,000 Shares as at the respective
date, representing about 8.86% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the respective date. The Company may
renew the General Scheme Limit with Shareholders’ approval
provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

—E=FFR EBE

fE R RE St 8
RE AR R BN =T

T-WESAZ+—RB ([
%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ&%%%%°%h%

AEAEEREASEERNKLTE2BER Y
W BRI - {75 % %5 5 K 9 B B (E B B e
BRER -AKEMEEE RBE Emxk
REHERER BEFP RAASKBEREHE B
%ﬁﬁ%&%i%ZAt&%ﬁ N ]
ERAKERARAMRR NEBE KR AN
AREAAEKE. %ﬁ%%iﬁ@%%?
BOAmMECRAAEARNEEEBKIERS
Xﬁ@mﬁﬂﬁ@@%%ﬁ%/ﬁﬁiﬁ
BEBRSMBEESE -

BRESABSNBRETERANAME D
BE T ERA W LR = F = X A

—tBEM-BMEARREES, BRER
FMFHEBLON=(EA -

EAREEREFEMAEERANTME
R AERTEE TR BT A B EETT
FEMmAERBEREITHORMBEE &
SRR LETBEHEETRMHN10% ([—
BEAEER]) RZFBE-_=%F—H—8"
—E-=F+-_A=+—BRAREHE"
BREAZETIHRENEREHE 5
37,218,000 - HE-_ZT-_=F—HF—H "
TEC=F+-A=+—HBHEAREHE
BRIEEREASRTERESRNE FTHE
k%@%%&%ﬁ%hﬁﬂ%mmﬁaﬁ

2 R 537,218,0000% » & RN AR A2 3
ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%a%%ﬂﬁ&%%oﬁﬂﬂ
AR EEST —RAE LR EEFX
WWHEEFT ISR ERRSLEEREETR
DHEI10%

AR BB & A SBRA O EHEHE
m%&%%%%%&@ﬁiﬁﬁmﬁﬁi
ﬂﬁ%k%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ 31T B (D B
BERAXTRE ﬁ@\hﬂ%ﬁ B A7 &9
30% °

BEREHEENERRAR - 39



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day;
(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

During the FY2023, no share options have been outstanding,
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under
the Share Option Scheme.

IR ESTE (@)

BRESIBRROALE EEFNT_BEAR
DR AR 92 R AT 81 Mo AN 5% B BR A O (T ]
fERESIRONBRE (RFECTRE
HEARITENBRE) BITEMRS2EE
BITRBTETOBRNDARTSBEBER
ARAREHETRANI% °

S2EEVEREBREZNE BE2IRRA
EXBERE- EREIXBERENRTRHEX
MmETHRRNLE:

BEREATNREFETLBAZTARANS
) P BE B AR I8 BB B AT 8 A0 IR R AT (R%
HEARREBRENEZLD B HE AR
BEBOMNANELBERERRES +F
WER - EARBEBBGXERLZL) - &
FEESTARAERERARAFLRLE
BENZOPHA BREFLERTE
EATEBRENASSAENREHR -

BREFES TR RABERAHESEE
BARFER: DRLBERENEOR R (&
AREXER)EBXMERBRERABHR
BT E: (NBEERIBRENZOA
Al A A2 X AAEBRAE R RERTRD
Betn FH R mE: R(iDROEE=&FFH

REE e

R-ZF_=ZFURFE A2AHERE
BREEHABRITAEN ERE -B1THE
BERBACTHNBEE-

40 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHE

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted the Share Award Plan on 17 August
2018 (the "“Share Award Plan Adoption Date”). The
purposes of the Share Award Plan are to recognise and
reward the contribution of the eligible participants to the
growth and development of the Group, to give incentives
to the eligible participants in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. Participants of the Share Award Plan include all the
employees, directors, suppliers, customers of the Group,
persons or entities that provide research, development or
other technological support to the Group, shareholders of
any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the
Group and any other group or classes of participants who
have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement and growth
of the Group.

Subject to any earlier termination as may be determined
by the Board, the Share Award Plan will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from the Share Award Plan Adoption
Date and shall expire on 17 August 2028. As at the date of
this report, the Share Award Plan had a remaining life of
approximately 4.5 years.

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the Board (by itself or through the plan administrator) and
the trustee in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Plan and the terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold
the trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

In any given financial year of the Company, the maximum
number of Shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by
the trustee by utilising the funds to be allocated by the Board
out of the Company’s resources for the purpose of the Share
Award Plan shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the beginning of such financial year. None of the
Board or the plan administrator shall instruct the trustee to
subscribe for and/or purchase any Shares for the purpose of
the Share Award Plan when such purchase and/or subscription
will result in such threshold being exceeded.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

The Company will not make any further grant of share
awards under the Share Award Plan unless and until the
terms of such scheme are amended to comply with Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. As such, as at 1 January 2023, 31
December 2023 and the date of this report, the number of
share awards available for grant under the Share Award Plan
was nil as at the respective date. As at 1 January 2023, 31
December 2023 and the date of this report, the total number
of Shares that may be issued in respect of the share awards
granted under the Share Award Plan on 10 June 2021 in
which specific mandates was approved by the Shareholders
on 8 October 2021 was 10,226,400 Shares, 3,558,800 Shares
and 3,558,800 Shares respectively, representing approximately
2.4%, 0.85% and 0.85% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as at the respective date. There was no
restriction on the maximum number of Shares to be granted
under the Share Award Plan to each participant. The Board
may from time to time, at its discretion, determine the vesting
date, any conditions or performance targets or consideration
to be attained or paid by the selected participant(s) and upon
which the trustee of the Share Award Plan shall transfer the
awarded Shares to the relevant participant(s).

Details of the Share Award Plan were disclosed in the
Company’'s announcements dated 17 August 2018 and
24 August 2018.

During the FY2023, no Shares were purchased by the trustee
of the Share Award Plan pursuant to the terms of the trust
deed of the Share Award Plan (2022: Nil).
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EEHRE

SHARE AWARD PLAN

Details of movements of the share awards granted under the

(continued)

Share Award Plan for the FY2023 are as follows:

Name or category of

selected participants Date of award

BESEEHZAER 2ERS

Connected selected participants

BEEESEE

Ms. Wong Pui Wah (Note (2)) 10 June 2021

ERERL(H02) “B-f
~ATH

Director

i

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Resigned on 10 June 2021

21 August 2023) (Note (3))

ERlEE (R-F-ZF k- b3
NA=+-A&F) (H#3)  ~EtA

Mr. Sun Jian (Resigned on 10 June 2021
28 March 2024) (Note (4))
REGE (RoF-mE —5C-%

ZAZTNBEE) (BEW)  RATE

Mr. Chen Dong (Resigned on 10 June 2021
8 February 2023) (Note (5))
RAGH (RoF-=% “E--E

2R B (Bi#6) ~ATH

Sub-total
it

Vesting dates
(Note (1))

- EE]
(Hi)

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively

ZS%QEUFQ%FEPJMK’AEWE:?:*@ Sk St Sl

DZFRCECMFTAST-AULFRERFNER
%#E’WZ AEE=tRENEEE

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively

BUARRERHEARARE S5 25225 =
DZFRCECMFTAST-AULFRRFNER
RENEZAREZTRENERE

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively

ZS%QEUFQ%FEPJMK’AEWE:?:*@ Rk St Sl

DZFRCECMFTAST-AULFRRFNER
%“E’WZ AEE=tRENEEE

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively

BUARRERHEARARE S5 25225 =
DZFRCECMFTAST-AULFRERFNER
RENEZAREZTRENERE

“ECC-EFH BAEEBRREABRENEAERATF

IR 10 28 B =t & (0
RZZE_=FHRFE REKMHEBT
ERERO ERBESHFBFAT
Number of share awards
ReZBYA
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Awarded Vested Lapsed  Cancelled asat
1 January during during during during 31 December
2023 theYear  theYear  theYear the Year 2023
RZB=Zf§ St 3
-B-H R R R £R +ZA=t-H
AR 254 ] ] BAN gitd AT
600,000 - - (200,000) - 400,000
2,263,200 - - (2,263,200) - -
3,013,200 - - (1,004,400) - 2,008,800
1,200,000 - - (1,200,000) - -
7,076,400 - - (4,667,600) - 2,408,800
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EERE

SHARE AWARD PLAN

Details of movements of the

Share Award Plan for the FY2023 are as follows: (continued)

Name or category of

selected participants Date of award

BESRENZAET %EES

Independent selected
participants

BuEESEE

Employee selected participants
(Note (6))

10 June 2021

EEBESEE ()

—E--%

ARTE

Non-Employee selected 10 June 2021
participants
(Wote ()
FERERSEE (HE) - -ToF

/\H+E

Non-Employee selected
participants with share
award granted in any
12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company
(Note (8))

REAT-BANBERT
R ZREERARAERT
REH0.1%2FEEER
S8% (i)

Mr. Wang Zhe (Note (7)) 10 June 2021

TERE (M) k-

RATH

Sub-total
/J\ﬁ-

Total
&t

44

(continued)

/7

share awards granted under the

B 5 S B a8l (m)
RZIEBE_=ZFUBREE RBIERGEET

EREORO BB FBELT : (&)
Number of share awards
e EE]
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Awarded Vested Lapsed  Cancelled as at
Vesting dates 1 January during during during during 31 December
(Note (1)) 2023 theYear  theYear  theYear  the Year 2023
st g AZEZZE
HRAM -A-8 £ £ FR £R tZBZt-8
(#rt() Eitd B4 4] | BAM BEH AT
25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 2,175,000 - - (1,525,000 - 650,000
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respedive\y
BUARREBTBAAIRE-S-—F 2522F =
ToCERCEIMETCAST-ALEEEENEE
FENEVARE=TARNESRR
25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 225,000 - - (225,000 - -
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respedive\y
BUARREBTBAAARE-S-—F 2522F =
ToCERCEIMETCACT-ALEEEENEE
FENEVARE=TARNESRR
25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 750,000 - - (250,000 - 500,000
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BHARRERHRARNEZ S -F ZF2F =
TICFRCFIMETCACT-RUEFEEENEE
RENEZARESTRENEEA
3,150,000 - - (2,000,000) - 1,150,000
10,226,400 - - (6,667,600) - 3,558,800

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEWRE

SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Notes:

(1

(3)

4)

(6)

Each of the above selected participants are required to pay a
vesting price of HK$2.37 per share to the trustee on or before the
applicable vesting date to which the vesting of the relevant shares
relates. The Shares that may be issued in respect of share awards
granted under the Share Award Plan on 10 June 2021 will be
satisfied by the allotment and issue of new Shares pursuant to the
relevant specific mandates as approved by the Shareholders on 8
October 2021.

Ms. Wong Pui Wah is the chief financial officer of the Company
and a director of certain members of the Group as at the date of
this report.

Mr. Huang Yifeng resigned as an executive Director on 21 August
2023.

Mr. Sun Jian resigned as an executive Director on 28 March 2024.

Mr. Chen Dong resigned as a non-executive Director on 8 February
2023.

Employee selected participants are employees of the Group (none
of which are directors or chief executive of any members of the
Group) while non-employee selected participants are selected
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group which are certain senior management of YTO Express.

Mr. Wang Zhe was the only non-employee selected participant with
share award granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as set out in the table on
page 44 of the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes organized by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities for the Group's eligible
employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars
of these retirement plans are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements. The retirement benefit
plans operated by the Group were defined contribution
schemes. The contribution made by the Group vest fully with
the employees when contribution was made by the Group
and no forfeited contribution could be used by the Group to
reduce existing level of contributions

—E=FFR EBE

% 17 22 B 51 &l (a0
W2 -

(1 NEBUBRF2REENEEHBERNOER
ZERGE BB ME AN ERK2.37
BTZBBE-R-_F-_—FXATHERER
7 BREFH 8RR TR 2B T BE B AT OB AD
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EERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following corporations or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in ordinary Shares

Name of shareholder

BRESEB

Capacity/nature of interest

56 EmtE

Beneficial owner
EmEAA

YTO Global Holdings Limited
(Note)
EmBERZERABRAR (#:2)

YTO Express (Note)
El@RIE (M) YA E R S
Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan (Note)
wANMB I (M) ZIEEENES
Note:

These interests are also disclosed as the interest of Mr. Yu Huijiao in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation”.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares involved divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed "“Directors’ and
chief executive's interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” above, no person had interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

46

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

TERERBRG R ARG D>
BRAKAE

R-BE_=F+-_A=+—B ®EFH
HoREBEESMEGIFE336KARAE
THREZERMALE TIEERAL
(EERARARSTHRABRIN RO
RERBRO 2 EmIOXRIT

N\ EBRZHFR
Percentage*
of the
Number Company’s
of Shares issued share
involved capital
Figke EEAARBHITR
ReEE KZ2BEDLE*
268,229,408 63.84%
268,229,408 63.84%
268,229,408 63.84%

EE

ZERBETN [EERRFITRABRARR AR
HEOEEZ B - BB REEER 2 EE AR
—BARBEAWM S WAL L -

* BOLERMPRZBENBREBAR T =
FH-A=T—RzEBITRMNHEEAE -

BREXEEEN R_T_=F+_A4
=t—H BREBGSENLELXIEZRES
TR A B R AR A ST R B A B 2 B
HEBRDREEEP2ERMAR] — K
CEZERARAREITBRABI BLEA
IREODHBERNTEERERE S KB
ERPIEIB6HFRACHENARAETEEZ
Btz EMED=RE -
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the
Group are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the sections headed
"Continuing Connected Transactions”, none of the related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction which was subject to any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FY2023, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules:

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express

On 5 November 2021, the Company has entered into an
agreement (the “Master Service Agreement”) with YTO
Express, pursuant to which (i) the Company have appointed
YTO Express Members as the Group’s agents for the rest of
the world; and (ii) YTO Express have appointed the Group as
YTO Express Members’ agents for the rest of the world, for
the provision of international express and parcel services and/
or air and ocean freight services for the term commencing
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 unless terminated
earlier by 30 days’ written notice by either party.

Throughout the FY2023, YTO Express is a company controlled
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a
controlling Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly,
YTO Express is a connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express
(continued)

The annual caps of the transactions under the Master Service
Agreement include (i) international express and parcel
services and air and ocean freight services fees to be paid
by the Group to YTO Express Members of HK$183.7 million,
HK$1,062.6 million and HK$1,552.0 million, for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2024, respectively; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and ocean
freight services income to be received by the Group from YTO
Express Members of HK$510.2 million, HK$1,040.3 million
and HK$1,097.2 million, for each of the three years ending
31 December 2024, respectively.

For the FY2023, (i) international express and parcel services
and air and/or ocean freight services fees paid by the
Group to YTO Express Members under the Master Service
Agreement was approximately HK$457.9 million; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and/or ocean
freight services income received by the Group from YTO
Express Members under the Master Service Agreement was
approximately HK$468.2 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 5
November 2021 and 29 September 2022 and the circulars
dated 8 December 2021 and 2 November 2022 for further
details of the Master Service Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Charter Agreement with the Cargo Members

On 5 November 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) entered into an agreement
(the “Master Charter Agreement”) with the Cargo Members,
pursuant to which the Cargo Members will provide air freight
chartering services to the Group to and from countries and
regions around the world for the transportation of air cargoes
for a term commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024 unless terminated earlier by 60 days’ written notice by
either party.

Throughout the FY2023, each of the Cargo Members was a
wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express, which was controlled
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a
substantial Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly.
YTO Cargo is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transaction amounts under the Master
Charter Agreement to be paid and/or reimbursed by the
Group to the Cargo Members are HK$1,297.7 million for
FY2023, including (i) the charter fee and other charter related
fees (including but not limited to fuel surcharge and deicing
fee) for each of the countries and regions around the world;
and (ii) all expenses related to cargo terminal operations at
departure and destination airport (which may be payable by
YTO Cargo to the relevant cargo terminal on behalf of the
Group) and handling fees in respect of the Cargo Terminal
Expenses.

For the FY2023, the transaction amounts paid and/or
reimbursed by the Group to the Cargo Members under the
Master Charter Agreement was approximately HK$105.3
million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
5 November 2021 and circular dated 8 December 2021 for
further details of the Master Charter Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

During the FY2023, the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
(as defined below) constitute non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT BVI
entered into the following agreements (the “OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements”) with Miss Ruchirek Pipatsriswat
("Miss Ruchirek”) on 25 October 2013, who is a substantial
shareholder holding 33.5% of shareholding interest in
On-Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT Thailand”):

(1) Loan assignment entered into between OT HK as
assignor, OT BVI as assignee and Miss Ruchirek as
borrower, whereby, the non-interest bearing loan for
an aggregate principal amount of THB3,350,000 then
owed by Miss Ruchirek to OT HK, was assigned to OT
BVI and the loan shall be repayable on demand by OT
BVI. The loan is conditional and secured by the pledge
of shares in OT Thailand from time to time held by
Miss Ruchirek under the share pledge agreement, and
the arrangements under the proxy and the letter of
undertakings.

(2)  Share pledge agreement entered into between OT BVI
as lender and Miss Ruchirek as borrower, whereby,
Miss Ruchirek has pledged in favour of OT BVI, among
others, her 33.5% of the total shareholding interest
of OT Thailand, and all further shares and securities
deriving from such pledged shares, or otherwise
acquired and held by Miss Ruchirek from time to time.

BFEBREXRS @)
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i B Ruchirek Pipatsriswat/JM#8 ([Ruchirek
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Miss Ruchirek to OT BVI
and OT Thailand, whereby, among others, she has
irrevocably assigned and directed all dividends and
distributions declared, paid and payable by OT Thailand
and all distributions of assets and capital made and to
be made by OT Thailand in relation to the shares of OT
Thailand from time to time held by her to OT BVI (or
such person as from time to time designated by it).

(4)  Proxy by Miss Ruchirek to OT Thailand, whereby, Miss
Ruchirek has irrevocably appointed OT BVI or any
person nominated by it to act as Miss Ruchirek’s proxy
to attend, act and vote in respect of the shares in OT
Thailand in her name and on her behalf at any general
meeting of shareholders of OT Thailand.

OT Thailand contributed to about 1.0% of the Group’s total
revenue for the FY2023 (FY2022: 1.3%). Through the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements, the financial results of
OT Thailand were consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements as if it was the Company’s subsidiary and, as a
result, the Group bears 82.5% of the economic risks and
losses of OT Thailand.

HK$8.7 million dividend was made by OT Thailand to its
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT HK entered
into the following agreements (the “OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements”) with Dynamic Freight Co., Ltd. (“Vietnam
Owner”) on 6 November 2013, which is a substantial
shareholder holding 49% of the total charter capital of On
Time Worldwide Logistics (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. (“OT Vietnam”):

(1) Loan agreement entered into between OT HK as the
lender and Vietnam Owner as the borrower, whereby,
OT HK advanced to Vietnam Owner the interest bearing
loan for a principal amount of US$4,900 and the loan
shall be repayable on 22 December 2025 (or such later
date as mutually agreed between the parties). The
loan is conditional and secured by the mortgage of the
charter capital in OT Vietnam from time to time owned
by Vietnam Owner under the charter capital mortgage
agreement, and the arrangements under the proxy and
the letter of undertaking.

(2) Charter capital mortgage agreement entered into
between OT HK as lender and Vietnam Owner as
borrower, whereby, the Vietnam Owner has mortgaged
in favour of OT HK, among others, all its 49% in the
total charter capital of OT Vietnam, and all further
charter capital and securities deriving from such
mortgaged capital, or otherwise acquired and held by
Vietnam Owner from time to time (whether by way of
acquisition from the other shareholder(s) of OT Vietnam
or by further contribution to the charter capital of OT
Vietnam).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Vietnam Owner to OT HK,
whereby, among others, it has irrevocably assigned and
directed all dividends and distributions declared, paid
and payable by OT Vietnam and all distributions of
assets and capital made and to be made by OT Vietnam
in relation to the shares of OT Vietnam from time to
time held by it to OT HK (or such person as from time
to time designated by it).

(4) Proxy dated 6 November 2013 by Vietnam Owner to
OT Vietnam, whereby, Vietnam Owner has irrevocably
appointed OT HK to nominate any person(s) designated
by OT HK to act as the authorised representative(s) to
participate in the board of directors of OT Vietnam
and to act and exercise, on behalf of Vietham Owner,
all its power in respect of all the charter capital of OT
Vietnam registered in its name.

OT Vietnam contributed to about 1.5% of the Group's
total revenue for the FY2023 (FY2022: 2.9%). Through the
operation of the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangement,
the financial results of OT Vietnam were consolidated into
the Group’s financial statements as if it was the Company's
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary and, as a result, the Group
bears 100% of the economic risks and losses of OT Vietnam.

No dividend was made by OT Vietnam to its shareholders for
the FY2023.

For risks associated with the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks
relating to OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for
details. To mitigate such risks associated, the Group intends
to unwind the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements as soon as possible
if and when the relevant laws in the respective jurisdictions
allow the Group to operate in such jurisdictions without such
arrangements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

The purpose of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements is to provide the
Group with effective control over the financial and operational
policies of OT Thailand and OT Vietnam, to obtain the economic
benefits from OT Thailand and OT Vietnam and acquire the
equity interests in OT Thailand and OT Vietnam as and when
permitted under the applicable laws in Thailand or Vietnam and
to allow the Company to consolidate the financial results of OT
Thailand and OT Vietnam into the Group’s financial statements
as if they were the Group's subsidiaries, and the economic
benefit of their business flows to the Group.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’'s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised), “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. KPMG has issued its unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the Master Service
Agreement, the Master Charter Agreement, the OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements in respect of the FY2023 in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, with an emphasis of matter
paragraph in relation to the fact that the Company is not
required to establish nor announced an annual cap in respect
of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements for the FY2023.

KPMG also confirmed that, for FY2023, nothing has come to
their attention that cause them to believe that (i) the above
continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Board; (ii) the above continuing connected transactions
were not, in all material respects, conducted in accordance
with the pricing policies of Group; (iii) the above continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; (iv) the above continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the respective annual
caps (if applicable); and (v) in respect of the arrangements
under the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements, there were any dividends
or other distributions made by OT Thailand or OT Vietnam
to their registered owners which are otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Confirmation of independent non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the Master Service Agreement and the Master Charter
Agreement in respect of the FY2023 and confirmed that these
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Furthermore, the independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed that, in FY2023, the arrangements under the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements have remained unchanged and
consistent with the disclosure as set out in the Prospectus;
and both of the said arrangements are fair and reasonable
so far as the Group is concerned and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the section headed
“Continuing connected transactions” above and the
transactions as disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements, during FY2023, there was no contract
of significance (i) between the Company or its subsidiaries
and the controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries;
or (ii) for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions’, no contracts of
significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the FY2023.
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EERE

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

During 1 January 2023 and up to the date of this report,
the following Director was considered to have an interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the
"Competing Business”), as defined in the Listing Rules, details
of which are set out below:

Name of Director Mr. Yu Huijiao, non-executive Director of the
Company, who is also a substantial shareholder
of YTO Express

Nature and scope of YTO Express Group is principally engaged in
the Competing  the warehousing and distribution of goods as a

Business leader in the express and courier service market

in the PRC
Size of the YTO Express is a company listed on the
Competing Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
Business 600233), with market capitalization amounted

to RMB42.3 billion as at 31 December 2023

The positions held by the Directors in YTO

Express are as follows:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, chairman of the board of YTO
Express and chairman of the board and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong

Mr. Pan Shuimiao, director and president

Ms. Wang Lixiu, vice president

Management of
the Competing
Business

For the FY2023, since YTO Express Group’s main focus was
warehousing and distribution of goods through express and
courier service in the PRC and apart from intra-group freight
forwarding services among YTO Express Group members,
YTO Express Group did not carry out any freight forwarding
services to and/or business with external parties, the Directors
considered that, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm’s length, from the
Competing Business and the operations of YTO Express Group
did not affect the Group's business.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Shares during the FY2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2023. As at the date of this annual report,
the Group was not involved in any current material legal
proceeding, nor was the Group aware of any pending or
potential material legal proceedings involving the Group. If
the Group was involved in such material legal proceedings,
the Group would record any loss contingencies when, based
on information then available, it is probable that a loss has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the FY2023, less than 30% of the Group’s cost of
sales were attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers in
aggregate.

The percentage of revenue of the Group attributable to the
largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
are 43.3% and 55.1% respectively. Hangzhou Cainiao Supply
Chain Management Co., Limited, being one of the Group’s
five largest customers, is a subsidiary of Alibaba Group
Holding Limited, which is indirectly interested in more than
5% of the issued Shares.

Shanghai Yuantong International Cargo Freight Agent Co.,
Ltd.* EBEBEEBREMERGNRIEER XA, being one
of the Group’s five largest customers, is a wholly owned
subsidiary of YTO Express. YTO Express is a controlling
Shareholder interested in more than 5% of the issued Shares,
and also a company controlled as to over 30% by Yuantong
Jiaolong, which in turn is a company owned as to 51% by
Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the number of Company’s issued
shares) had an interest in the five major customers of the
Group. Close associate refers to the close associate of the
Director not the Shareholder.

*  For identification purposes only
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed regularly and
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management
of the Group are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board.

Our remuneration policy is based on the principles of
aligning remuneration outcomes with our strategy, and
encouraging strong delivery by employees by differentiating
top performers. The employees’ total compensation consists
of fixed pay including salary and allowances and discretionary
variable remuneration. It is determined on the basis of their
role and responsibilities, performance and contributions and
market dynamics.

The Group has adopted a Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Plan for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants, including the employees of
the Group, for their contribution to the Group.

The remuneration of Directors is determined with reference
to their expertise and experience in the industry, the
performance and profitability of the Group as well as
remuneration benchmarks from other local and international
companies and prevailing market conditions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed minimum public float under the
Listing Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 4 June 2024 to Friday, 7 June 2024 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the right to
attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM. In order to be
qualified for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM,
unregistered holders of Shares should ensure that all share
transfer documents accompanied by the corresponding share
certificates are lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on Monday, 3 June 2024.

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the proposed final dividend at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will also be
closed from Tuesday, 18 June 2024 to Thursday, 20 June
2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining
the entitlement to the proposed final dividend in respect of
the FY2023. In order to be qualified for the proposed final
dividend (subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM), unregistered holders of Shares should
ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied by
the corresponding share certificates are lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at the address stated
above for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Monday, 17 June 2024.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2023, the Group made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of about HK$11,000 (FY2022: about
HK$17,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2023, being the end of the Report Period
to the date of this report.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to

re-appoint Messrs. KPMG as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRE

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary
to support and complement its corporate governance efforts and
corporate image, and has gradually developed a corporate culture
emphasising on lawful, ethical and responsible business conduct
over the years, which has been reflected in the overall operations
and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-term
sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open communication
in the workplace and high ethical standards among staff and
management of the Group, the Group has established anti-corruption
and whistle-blowing policies, to provide guidance on identifying
relevant breaches or improper behaviour, reporting procedures and
consequences of violations of such policies. For further details on the
Group’s anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, please see the
environmental, social and governance report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance in maintaining its corporate transparency and
accountability. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Part 2 to Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
on the Stock Exchange during the FY2023. The Board considers
that during the FY2023, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarized below.

A. The Board
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control
and management of the Company and oversees
the Group’s business, strategic decision and
performances in the attainment of the objective
of ensuring effective functioning and growth of
the Group and enhancing value to investors. All
the Directors carry out their duties in good faith,
take decisions objectively and act in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation (continued)

All Directors have timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and senior management,
with a view to ensuring compliance with
Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations. Any Director may request for
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.

The Executive Committee and senior management
of the Company are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-
day management and operation of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above-mentioned officers.
The Board has the full support of the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A2.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board for the FY2023 and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Xinwei

Mr. Zhou Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on
28 March 2024)
(Note 1)

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Former president and chairman of
(Resigned on the Corporate Governance
21 August 2023) Committee)
(Note 2)

Mr. Sun Jian (Resigned  (Former Chief Executive Officer)
on 28 March 2024)
(Note 1)

Non-executive Directors:

(Chairman of the Boarad,
chairman of the
Nomination Committee
and member of the
Remuneration Committee)

(Chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee and

Mr. Yu Huijiao

Mr. Pan Shuimiao
(Note 2, 3 & 4)

former member of Audit
Committee)
Mr. Chen Dong (Former member of the
(Resigned on Audit Committee)
8 February 2023)
(Note 3)
Ms. Wang Lixiu (Member of the Audit
(Appointed on Committee)
31 March 2023)
(Note 4)
Mr. Su Xiufeng
(Appointed on
21 August 2023)
(Note 2)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A2. Board Composition (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui (Member of the Audit
Committee, the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
and Member of the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

Mr. Chung Kwok (Chairman of the Audit

Mo John Committee and Member of

the Remuneration
Committee and the
Corporate Governance
Committee)

Note 1: With effect from 28 March 2024, Mr. Sun Jian
resigned as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company and Mr. Zhou
Jian was appointed as an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company.

Note 2. With effect from 21 August 2023, Mr. Huang
Yifeng resigned as an executive Director, president
and chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee, Mr. Su Xiufeng was appointed as
a non-executive Director and Mr. Pan Shuimiao
was appointed as chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee.

Note 3. With effect from 8 February 2023, Mr. Chen Dong
resigned as a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee and Mr. Pan Shuimiao was
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

Note 4: With effect from 31 March 2023, Ms. Wang Lixiu
was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee and Mr. Pan
Shuimiao resigned as a member of the Audit
Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A2. Board Composition (continued)

Throughout the FY2023, the Board has met the
requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of having a minimum of three independent non-
executive directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and
experience appropriate for the business
requirements and objectives of the Group. Each
executive Director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group
in accordance with his/her expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring
different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgement to
the Board and they are invited to serve on the
Board committees of the Company. Through
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead
in managing issues involving potential conflicts of
interests, the independent non-executive Directors
have made contributions to the effective direction
of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both
the Group and the Shareholders.

Mr. Yang Xinwei is the cousin-in-law of the spouse
of Mr. Yu Huijiao, the chairman of the Board, a
non-executive Director and controlling shareholder
of the Company. Save as disclosed, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors and
senior management have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with
one another.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A2.

A3.

A4.

Board Composition (continued)

The Company has adopted the mechanism to
ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board, with the following key features:
(i) the Nomination Committee is established
with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
candidates, including independent non-executive
directors, for appointment as Directors; (ii) the
Nomination Committee will assess annually
the independence of all independent non-
executive directors; and (iii) the Directors
are entitled to seek, at the Group's expense,
independent professional advice reasonably
necessary for discharging their duties as
Directors. During the FY2023, the Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the mechanism and considered that the
implementation of the mechanism was effective.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles and duties of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer are held by
separate persons in order to ensure a balance
of power and authority and preserve a balanced
judgement of views. Currently, Mr. Yu Huijiao
takes up the role of chairman of the Board and
is providing leadership and being responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of
the Board, whereas Mr. Zhou Jian is the chief
executive officer of the Company, focusing on
the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Yang Xinwei has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 9 December 2022 renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months' written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A4. Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Zhou Jian has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 28 March 2024, renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter. Mr. Zhou has obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules
and he has confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 21 January
2020, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Pan
Shuimiao expiring at the end of the initial term or
thereafter.

Ms. Wang Lixiu has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 31 March
2023, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Ms. Wang
Lixiu expiring at the end of the initial term of her
appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Su Xiufeng has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 21 August
2023, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Su
Xiufeng expiring at the end of the initial term of
his appointment or any time thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES ©XEAER @

(continued)

A. The Board (continued) A.

A4. Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Yu Huijiao, a non-executive Director, and
each of the independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a term of one year and shall
be automatically renewable for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the current term unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either the Company or the
Director.

According to the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation at each AGM provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The retiring Directors
should be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM. In addition, any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his/her appointment, whereas
any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM. The Director
appointed by the Board as aforesaid shall be
eligible for re-election at the relevant general
meeting.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Yang Xinwei, Mr.
Zhou lJian, Mr. Pan Shuimiao, Mr. Su Xiufeng and
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John shall retire by rotation
pursuant to the Articles. All of the above retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM. The Board and the
Nomination Committee recommended their re-
appointment. The circular of the Company,
published on the same day as this report, contains
detailed information of the said Directors as
required by the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A5. Training and Continuing Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive
formal induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

Under the CG Code, Directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Directors are continually updated
with legal and regulatory developments, and
the business and market changes to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. Trainings
and professional development for Directors are
arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading
material on new or changes to salient laws and
regulations applicable to the Group are provided
to Directors from time to time for their studying
and reference.

The Directors are required to submit to the
Company details of the training they received
in each financial year for the Company's
maintenance of proper training records of the
Directors. During the FY2023, all the Directors
were provided with reading materials or regulatory
update on corporate governance matters and
responsibilities of the Directors for their reference
and perusal. Besides, Mr. Yang Xinwei, Mr.
Huang Yifeng, Mr. Sun Jian, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr.
Pan Shuimiao, Ms. Wang Lixiu, Mr. Su Xiufeng,
Mr. Chen Dong, Mr. Li Donghui, Mr. Xu Junmin
and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John attended other
seminars and training sessions arranged by other
professional firms/institutions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued) A. EEg @)
A6. Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings A6. EETSERLFELE

The attendance records of each Director at the RZE_=ZFPREERN FE

Board and Board committee meetings and the EHEARAEESRES S

general meetings of the Company held during the ZEeeEUALRKREXRNEGILE

FY2023 are set out below: M

Attendance/Number of Meetings (Note 4)
HEHER/ §ERE (M)
Corporate
Governance Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Committee General
Board  Committee  Committee  Committee EER Meeting

Name of Director FE3E E5® ENZE®  FMZEEe R4ZEe ZE® RRETAE

Executive Directors: HITEE:

Mr. Yang Xinwei BHEEE 5/5 - - - - n

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Note 1) BRELE (M31) 414 - - - 11 7

Mr. Sun Jian i3-S:3 5/5 - - - - n

Non-executive Directors: FHTEE:

M. Yu Huiizo BEREE 5/5 - 33 33 - "

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (Note 1, 2 & 3) BKEEE (W1 2K3) 5/5 N - - - N

Mr. Chen Dong (Note 2) REKE (Hit2) 171 - - - - -

Ms. Wang Lixiu (Note 3) IBARL (Hi#3) 33 33 - - - 1"

Mr. Su Xiufeng (Note 1) BASLE(MRT) 171 - - - - -

Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHGTEE:

Mr. Li Donghui £y 3 5/5 3/4 - V] 01 7

Mr. Xu Junmin BEREAE 5/5 - 33 33 n n

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John ERRLE 5/5 474 33 - n n

Note 1: With effect from 21 August 2023, Mr. Huang Brat1: BREGELEEBRITANTEER
Yifeng resigned as an executive Director and TEERZECIR HHE
chairman of Corporate Governance Committee, FHEBZERFENTEETRE
Mr. Su Xiufeng was appointed as a non-executive K %i?%?&ﬁm% ERE
Director and Mr. Pan Shuimiao was appointed as EexF BE-_Z-_=F/)\AH
chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. —t+—BEER-

Note 2: With effect from 8 February 2023, Mr. Chen Dong K2 B-ZE-_=ZF_ANHE &
resigned as a non-executive Director and a member Xﬁ'ﬁi%ﬂ%#i}lﬁ%%&%?
of the Audit Committee and Mr. Pan Shuimiao was ZEeKEREKBLLEESR
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee. EREZZEEKE -

Note 3: With effect from 31 March 2023, Ms. Wang Lixiu HiE3: B E-_=ZF=Z/R=+—H
was appointed as a non-executive Director and B IBAZTERZERIENR
a member of the Audit Committee and Mr. Pan ﬁ%%&%&?%ﬁﬁié&%
Shuimiao resigned as a member of the Audit BEAEBAIERZETK
Committee. E °

Note 4. Represents the number of meeting of the Board Bliga: R T -_=ZFHHFEH
and Board committees and general meetings held fil - _JZﬂE’\; T _=F—HA—
during FY2023 or, for Directors appointed after BREZINEFIN T
1 January 2023 or resigned during FY2023, during —CFMREFERENESM
the tenure of the relevant Director. FOREREEEHANESET
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(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A6. Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings
(continued)

In addition, the Chairman of the Board held one
meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the FY2023.

A7. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has devised its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ and employees’ dealings
in the Company’s securities (the "Securities
Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code. Each Director has been given a copy of the
Securities Dealing Code. Specific enquiry has been
made of all Directors and they have confirmed
their compliance with the Securities Dealing Code
throughout the FY2023. In addition, no incident
of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code
by the employees was noted by the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any
restricted period for dealings in the Company’s
securities, the Company will notify its Directors
and relevant employees in advance.

A8. Changes in Information of Directors

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is
no other change in the Directors’ information
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B of the
Listing Rules.
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(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A9.

Board and Workforce Diversity

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that
are relevant to the Company's business growth.
The Nomination Committee will review annually
the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy. For details of the
measurable objectives for implementing the board
diversity policy, please refer to section B3 of the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Company also considers the gender diversity
of the Board. During FY2023, the Board has
appointed one female Board member, currently
with one female Director out of nine Directors.
The Company considers gender diversity has been
achieved and the Company will review from time
to time the board gender diversity and potential
successors to the board to maintain gender
diversity.

Regarding the gender ratio in the workforce, as
at the 31 December 2023, the male to female
ratio of the senior management and general
workforce of the Group are 1.5 times and 0.8
times respectively. The Company considers that
the workforce gender diversity across senior
management and general workforce is achieved.

To achieve a balance of gender composition of
human resources at all levels, gender diversity
targets are set across the workforce. Based on the
existing composition of workforce, the Directors
consider that the workforce has more or less
gender parity and so no target is set in respect of
gender ratio. The Board will periodically monitor
the gender composition of the workforce and set
targets if and as needed.

During the FY2023, the Board and the Nomination
Committee have reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the board diversity policy and
considered that the implementation of the policy
was effective.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees

The Board has established five Board committees,
namely, the Executive Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference which are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company's website (except for the terms of reference
of the Executive Committee which are available to
Shareholders upon request). All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

B1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the executive
Directors and operates as a general management
committee under the direct authority of the Board
to increase the efficiency for the business decisions.
It monitors the execution of the Company's
strategic plans and operations of all business units
of the Group and discusses and makes decisions on
matters relating to the management and day-to-day
operations of the Company.

B2. Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the FY2023 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Throughout the FY2023, the Company has
met the Listing Rule requirements of having
the majority of the Remuneration Committee
members being independent non-executive
Directors as well as having the Committee chaired
by an independent non-executive Director.
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B. Board Committees (continued)

B2.

Remuneration Committee (continued)

w
e
4t

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure and the remuneration packages of
Directors and members of senior management.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by the Board with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company
as well as market practice and conditions.

During the FY2023, the Remuneration Committee
has held three meetings (the attendance records
of each Committee member are set out in
section A6 above). The Remuneration Committee
performed the following major works during the

year:

- General review and discussion of the
remuneration packages, policy and structure
of the directors and the senior staff of the
Group, and recommendation to the Board;

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration packages
for the directors and members of senior

management; and

- Consideration and review of the service

contracts of executive Director(s).

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual remuneration
of the members of the senior management by band

for the FY2023 is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$)

2,500,001-3,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000

¥isEE (GBx)

2,500,001%3,000,000
2,000,001%2,500,000
1,500,001%2,000,000
1,000,001% 1,500,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director
for the FY2023 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this

report.
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(continued)
ESEEZEE W)

B3. Nomination Committee B3. ERZE®E

B. Board Committees (continued) B.

The members of the Nomination Committee
during the FY2023 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman)
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy;
identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;
assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of
the Company.
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B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

In selecting candidates for directorship of the
Company, the Nomination Committee may make
reference to certain criteria such as the Company’s
needs, the diversity on the Board, the integrity,
experience, skills and professional knowledge of
the candidate and the amount of time and effort
that the candidate will devote to discharge his/her
duties and responsibilities. External recruitment
professionals might be engaged to carry out
selection process when necessary.

For the nomination process of new Director, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. If the process yields one
or more desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable). The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable. For any person that is nominated by
a Shareholder for election as a Director at the
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

76

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Company has adopted the director
nomination policy. Such policy, devising the
criteria and process of selection and performance
evaluation, provides guidance to the Board on
nomination and appointment of Directors. The
Board believes that the defined selection process
is good for corporate governance in ensuring
the Board continuity and appropriate leadership
at Board level, and enhancing better Board
effectiveness and diversity as well as in compliance
with the applicable rules and regulations.

The Company also recognises and embraces the
benefit of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. To comply
with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, a board
diversity policy was adopted by the Company,
pursuant to which the Nomination Committee is
responsible for monitoring the implementation
of the board diversity policy and assessing the
Board composition under diversified perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional
experience). The Nomination Committee shall
report its findings and make recommendations to
the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives will
be reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
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B. Board Committees (continued)

TEERER @

B. EEEZEE (@)

B3. Nomination Committee (continued) B3. REZE® (&)
During the FY2023, the Nomination Committee P Eﬁﬁﬂlif =
has held three meetings (the attendance records ZEeBRTBZAER (LB
of each Committee member are set out in section KB EREEH N L XA6—
A6 above). The Nomination Committee performed ) RBZEERFRETHU
the following major works during the year: TEETHE
Review of the existing structure, size and R ESE R AEE
composition of the Board to ensure that MERAK LUBERES
it has a balance of expertise, skills and g /\ﬁﬁﬁlﬁi‘xﬂ Fir
experience appropriate to the requirements EREENE Bk
for the business of the Group; 5
Consideration of and recommendation to - RZE-_=FXALHBHHE
the Board on the re-election of the retiring f?ZﬂiﬂﬁTH&??@iﬁ@
Directors at the Company’s AGM held on EEREE E‘E%? iz
9 June 2023; ﬁ%%ﬂ”ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%k '
Assessment of the independence of the three - HEZR2BIIRTES
independent non-executive Directors; and LB R
Consideration of and recommendation to - ZEZAEZRTREST
the Board on the appointment of directors. TEL B EE -
The measurable objectives for implementing the EMEEFE L T(LBRM A
board diversity policy are as follows: EEEFEWNT:
At least 55% of the Board members to be - ®mISSUMESZTEKNER
aged below 55; 55 A T
At least 50% of the Board members to hold - mAS0%MEEGRER
a master’s degree; BRI B0
At least 40% of the Board members to - AWM ESZTEKEAR
possess professional qualifications in legal or =Dz 1$_JZ SREBENEE
accounting field; and B
At least 20% of the Board members to have EQZO%E’J EEgXEA
business experience in freight forwarding HERERBEBRRIET
and international express industry. % RS -
The Nomination Committee considered that an REZEERARESTEEIN
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of EC=FUBRFEANERRE
the Board is maintained during the FY2023. Based BY&E®Z Tk E - RIFERE
on the review by the Nomination Committee, ZEgHR REZEGRA
the Nomination Committee considers that the ARABIR_ZE_=FPHRFE
Company has achieved the measurable objectives NEEREREFEZ TILR
set for implementing the board diversity policy for HZFFERR-

the FY2023.
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B4. Audit Committee B4. BEHXZEEE

B. Board Committees (continued) B.

The members of the Audit Committee during the
FY2023 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Wang Lixiu (Appointed on 31 March 2023)
Mr. Chen Dong (Resigned on 8 February 2023)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (Appointed on 8 February 2023
and resigned on 31 March 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (Chairman)
Mr. Li Donghui

The Company has met the Listing Rules
requirements regarding the composition of the
Audit Committee throughout the FY2023. The
majority of the Audit Committee members are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John possesses the appropriate
professional qualification, and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are
reviewing the financial information and reports
of the Group and considering any significant or
unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission
to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor
and making the relevant recommendation to the
Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.
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B. Board Committees (continued)
B4. Audit Committee (continued)

During the FY2023, the Audit Committee has
held four meetings (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section
A6 above). The Audit Committee performed the
following major works during the year:

- Reviewed the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and made
recommendation of the re-appointment of
the external auditor;

- Reviewed and discussed the annual financial
statements, results announcement and
annual report for the FY2022, the relevant
audit findings of the Company’s external
auditor;

- Reviewed and discussed the interim financial
statements, results announcement and
interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and the relevant review
findings of the Company’s external auditor;

- Reviewed the reports prepared by an
external adviser on the Group’'s internal
control matters, and reviewed the existing
risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, and review the
effectiveness of the internal audit function
of the Company;

- Reviewed the Group’s continuing connected
transactions for the FY2022 as well as the
FY2023 and the revision of annual caps of
the continuing connected transactions;

- Reviewed certain material litigation and
possible related claims against the Group;

- Reviewed and approved the audit plan of
the Company’'s external auditor, including
the nature and scope of audit, remuneration
and terms of engagement in respect of the
audit on the financial statements for the
FY2023; and
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued) B.

B4. Audit Committee (continued) B4.

- Reviewed the arrangements for employees
of the Group to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in the Group's
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters and the investigation process on the
reported cases.

The external auditor has attended the above four
meetings and discussed with the Audit Committee
members on issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the appointment of external
auditor.

B5. Corporate Governance Committee B5.

The members of the Corporate Governance
Committee during the FY2023 and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Director:

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Resigned on 21 August 2023)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (Chairman)
(Appointed on 21 August 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Li Donghui

Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

80 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)
B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

The Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Group, including
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
making recommendations to the Board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the
Securities Dealing Code; and reviewing the
Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Corporate Governance Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the Group's process of
disclosure, including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside information and
determining the form and content of any required
disclosure; and reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy adopted by the Company.

During the FY2023, the Corporate Governance
Committee has held one meeting (the attendance
records of each Committee member are set out
in section A6 above). The Corporate Governance
Committee performed the following major works
during the year:

- Reviewed the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group and
make recommendations to the Board;

- Reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
senior management;

- Reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- Reviewed the compliance of the Securities
Dealing Code and CG Code;
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82

Board Committees (continued)
B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

- Reviewed the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report;

- Reviewed the Group’s process of disclosure,
including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside
information and determined the form and
content of certain required disclosures; and

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the FY2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements. Management has
provided such explanation and information to the Board
as necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of
the Group put forward to the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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D.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
risk management including the risks related to
environmental, social and governance and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems as well as the internal audit function
of the Company on an annual basis through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including air freight, sea freight,
trade lane, corporate management, human resources,
finance and information technology. Self-evaluation
has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.
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D.

84

Risk Management and Internal Controls
(continued)

All departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the
business of the Group and various aspects including
key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Management,
in coordination with department heads, assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment
plans, and monitors the risk management progress.
Management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the FY2023.

The Company has engaged an external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit function examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material
controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.

During the FY2023, the Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee as well as the report from
management and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed a policy for handling and
dissemination of inside information. The policy provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers and
relevant employees in handling confidential information
and monitoring information disclosure.
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E.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Ms. Wong Pui Wah, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the
Listing Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Wong Pui
Wah are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
During the FY2023, Ms. Wong has taken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the Company's
financial statements for the FY2023 is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this
report.

The fees paid/payable to KPMG, the Company’s auditor,
and to auditors other than KPMG for the Company's
subsidiaries, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the FY2023 are analysed below:

Type of services provided
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Fees paid/payable

by the external auditor SMEZBEMEHNREER gt EREA
HK$
BT
Audit services — audit fee to KPMG ZHRE - —E_=ZFWBFE 2,611,000
for the Company and subsidiaries AR RWB AR T
for the FY2023 E2EHGHMEBM 2
ZEE R
Audit services — audit fee to auditors BERE - —E_=FUREE
other than KPMG for the ARFINBRRZF
Company’s subsidiaries for the FY2023 RESBHEMEBR
LASNB) iZ BRI 2 12 20 B A 2,467,000
Non-audit services by KPMG ENHSHMERAN
I BRS
— review of interim results for —BHHE_T-_=FA
the six months ended 30 June 2023 —tTHIERNEAZHEES 600,000
— review of continuing connected - BN -E_=FYHBFEZ
transactions for the FY2023 BEBER S 44,000
— review of annual results announcement - BT _—FUHREEZ
for the FY2023 FEEHELE 24,000
— Tax compliance service of the Company —ARRARETFTREEKILZ
and certain Hong Kong incorporated MiE ARz % E RRS
subsidiaries 67,000
TOTAL: FEET 5,813,000
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G.

86

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group's business
performance and strategies. The Group also recognizes
the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. During the FY2023,
the Company has reviewed and considered that the
shareholders’ communication policy was effectively
implemented with the below measures in place.

The Company maintains a website at www.ytoglobal.com
as a communication platform with its Shareholders
and investors, where information and updates on the
Company’s business developments and operations
and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors of the Company may send
written enquiries or requests to the Company via the
following contact details:

Attention: Company Secretary

Address: Suite 2208, 22nd Floor, Office Tower, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong

Email: tiffany.wong@ytoglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2998 4626

Fax: (852) 3586 7681

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the
Company in an informative and timely manner.

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity
for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Board members and senior staff will be
available to answer questions raised by the Shareholders
at general meetings of the Company. In addition, the
Company will invite representatives of the auditor to
attend its AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor's report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence, if any.
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5

H. Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company
“www.ytoglobal.com” and the Stock Exchange after
each Shareholders’ meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Act (As Revised) or the Articles.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

With respect to the Shareholders’ right in proposing
persons for election as Directors, please refer to the
procedures available on the website of the Company.

l. Constitutional Documents l.

During the FY2023, there was no significant change in
the Articles.

An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details
of the rights of Shareholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YTO INTERNATIONAL
EXPRESS AND SUPPLY CHAIN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 94 to 244, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER HRETEE

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional FRBIHFEFTEEARE AN ZEEMITH EEH
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the I RABWAHELEAMBEHRRNE;T &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This A ZE B E1E - 3% 18 N A& A 17 E 5t
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the F¥EGAUBRELATLEELBTEE M
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming AT TEHZEHEHBYINER -
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on this matter.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

EZRURENAMCEBERE

Refer to note 38(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 129 to 135.
FHL2EGAMBMEME3IS0)I) M E1292135B NS TR -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our
audit
BRETSE AREMTHESTNTWEEEESEE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gross trade receivables ~ Our audit procedures to assess the expected
amounted to HK$1,056 million, against which an allowance credit loss allowance for trade receivables
for expected credit losses of HK$11 million was recorded. included the following:
RZZEZ=F+-_A=+—H ' EBSENEZFERNIEL FIREMTHESREKXENTEREEEBE
BR1,056BB AT REFLEHREEEERENBEEATL BHEETITGHZEIEFEEUATAR:

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade receivables e obtaining an understanding of and
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss, by assessing the design, implementation
applying estimated loss rates on trade receivables grouped and operating effectiveness of key
according to their shared credit risk characteristics. internal controls relating to credit
Management assesses the expected credit loss allowance control and estimation of expected
for possible credit-impaired trade receivables individually credit losses;

based on observable data about occurrence of events that e TR EEEERHRESREES
have a detrimental impact on the estimated cash flows from 18 (i 5T A8 A 0 A 52 70 B 4% Il A AR AT
the trade receivables. For the remaining balance of trade Eie REBREFRL

receivables, the expected credit loss allowance is assessed

collectively using the provision matrix. The estimated loss e evaluating the Group’s policy for
rates in the provision matrix take into account the ageing estimating the credit loss allowance
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of the with reference to the requirements of
Group's customers, current market conditions, and forward- the prevailing accounting standard;
looking information. . SBHRTEFENMER  FME BEE
EEERAEARBARGERRFEBETIEANESE K EfGtAREEEERENRE:

FENGEABEREX REMAREEEEESNSRTE
BIRURENTEHEEEE - EREREFHELHES

assessing whether items in the trade

ERRIBEAMEENGFRERERETINTZENETHHIER receivables ageing reports were
RYF BERAHERUENEERENE S EWFRIENTE categorised in the appropriate ageing
HEERERE -HESREFENRTEAHRT S EHEE brackets by testing the completeness
EERETERREEER - h -BERENEFTEEEE and accuracy of the ageing reports
REZERWFBEHNER E£EFEPNERTHE B generated by the financial reporting
TR RBIEMTLER - system; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)
The Key Audit Matter
BRETSE

We identified the expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because determining the
level of the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation which are inherently
subjective.
$ﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁ%f%Aﬁmﬁ%ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FiRR DHRETERBEKRKTIEREBEELERA
%&ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%&ﬁﬁ$%i%£ﬁo

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

HEETEE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
AZEMTHETNNEEEREE

° assessing the appropriateness
of management’s estimates of
expected credit loss by examining the
information used by management
to derive such estimates, including
identification of possible credit
impaired trade receivables,
segmentation of trade receivables,
testing the accuracy of the historical
credit loss data, and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates have
reflected current economic conditions
and forward-looking information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 % BT &

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

92

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEE@mRK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z_=—F+_A=1+—HLFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Net impairment loss recognised
under expected credit loss model

Impairment loss on interests in
joint ventures

Other gains or losses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents)

Basic

Diluted

2023 2022
:’_;.9‘"&: = —_=__
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
BiaE F#T FE L
W 2= 56 5,291,610 6,706,450
55 KA (4,810,282) (6,163,136)
E A 481,328 543,314
Emug A 7 27,998 18,288
THRX (376,054) (418,318)
EHEEEEERT
BRI EEEFR 11 (3,036) (8,440)
REETENBESRE
21 (13,000) -
EMSms s 8 3,756 15,006
e /N (75) 708
JEihEEhEEE 2,574 (7,204)
& AR 9 (2,039) (2,577)
B 5 Bl 121,452 140,777
Fri8 i X 10 (24,984) (968)
F N5 F 11 96,468 139,809
VAR & T8 FE 1k G R R -
ViN/NEIE - Fa i g 96,775 136,744
JEVER = (307) 3,065
96,468 139,809
FRrRAEF B
HAK 14 23.15 32.71
g 14 23.15 32.71

The notes on pages 103 to 244 form part of these
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the

year are set out in note 13.

FI103E244E M X B Z T M B MK M
—#D - BT RRA EERN AR R ER

PR B M BHNHIFES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPRE ’
ReEEkEMEEKRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE_T_=F1+_A=1T—BLFE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year (after tax and
reclassification adjustments)

Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss

Deficit on revaluation of leasehold
land and buildings

Deferred tax arising on revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Share of other comprehensive income of
associates

Share of other comprehensive income of
joint ventures

Exchange difference arising from
foreign operations

Reclassification adjustment upon disposal
of a subsidiary

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 103 to 244 form part of these financial

statements.

2023 2022
:'_;.ﬁ:E =
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
K1t FETT FET
F N 96,468 139,809
FREM2E K
(4B BEIE &
EFOEARER)
BT EESIEE
1Bz A IE B
HETH RIEFE(HEAL
(65) (623)
HETHEREFEHES
RO IR IE 7 18 35 140 288
HEngt @ EF IS
1578 A IE B
LB E AR 2wk
157 (515)
EiEeErEEM2EYE
1,099 (920)
BINEREANER Z5
(5,462) (39,995)
REE—ZRHNEBERRED
EMOBRAE — 17,689
FREMEERE (4,131) (24,076)
FREMBRA LT 92,337 115,733
AN & T8 (L -
PiN/N :1ﬁ§%ﬁﬂxﬁi 92,922 113,206
IEVE R M = (585) 2,527
FREBKRZ BT 92,337 115,733

_4|3/‘\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB AR R R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
RZE—_=F+-_A=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Contract assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Amount due from immediate
holding company

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Prepaid tax

Pledged bank deposits

A fixed bank deposit with
maturity more than 3 months

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

96 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
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REZEENER
EERIBEE

REBEE

B 7 MR
HEYRIE e &
B RIR
BREE
BAFEFAREN
TREE

JE U B A% B A R FUR
FEU & & b KRR

& W Bt 2 2 ) SRR

& Ui [R] 2 B4 /8§ 22 =] 3R IR

B IR
EHEMIRITER
FHAEE=EAN
EHRTITIE R
RITEHRNER R
REBAE

B 5 N H Al e 5OR
aHaE

AR NI/ ]
J& 1<) [B) 2 BfY /B8 & ) 5R0R

BIRRIE

HE&E

RITEK
REBEEFE
EERERABRE

Notes

Kt

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
35(b)

22

22
23

24

25
27
26
25
35(a)
28

28
29

30
31
26
25
35(a)
32
33

2023 2022
—_=E_= —_=EF-
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
5,051 5,393
29,775 32,383
38,415 38,205
500 511
7,606 4,119
3,437 3,356
37,156 46,483
18,150 20,995
140,090 151,445
1,044,855 788,987
90,465 93,134
2,583 28,804
745 708
125 119
18,922 21,399
14,651 14,825
10,697 32,482
14,923 6,942
21,644 38,943
3,855 49,119
823,029 998,365
2,046,494 2,073,827
712,968 435,227
10,995 10,404
4,799 1,543
117,419 494,286
4,908 23,905
20,661 16,068
794 -
872,544 981,433
1,173,950 1,092,394
1,314,040 1,243,839
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GmEMBRRE

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

R—EBE-_=F+-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—==-= —E-=

Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
B aF FET FAET

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other payables b B 3B 30 1,697 2,237
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 19,335 25,208
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIBEE 35(b) 4,628 5,983
25,660 33,428
1,288,380 1,210,411

Capital and reserves EXRREE
Share capital fi& 2 36 42,019 42,019
Reserves i 1,240,255 1,157,878

Total equity attributable to AN B R R L R R

equity shareholders of the Company k) 1,282,274 1,199,897
Non-controlling interests JEVE AR = 6,106 10,514
Total equity R R 1,288,380 1,210,411

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors ER-_ZE_NM&E=A -+ \HHREEZEEGHE

on 28 March 2024: K R RETIED -
Mr. Yang Xinwei Mr. Zhou Jian
BHERE AExE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BF BFE

The notes on pages 103 to 244 form part of these financial 52 103%244 8 &) [ff 51 18 Ak 2% 5 M 5 ) 3% 0
statements. —®#B7 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBFR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE_Z-_=€+-_A=+—RHILtEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FNARBRFEL

Share Property
Share Share  Treasury Capital Special awards Translation  Statutory revaluation  Retained
capital  premium stock reserve Teserve reserve reserve Teserve profits  Sub-total

L1 : BH%R 3 ; % &
Bx i B f &f fff f f A it
HKSO00  HKS900  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS000  KKS00D  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSUOO
Fér  FEx  TEx  TEx Fér  FEx  FEr  TEx  TEx  TEx

At 1 January 2023 42,019 441,102 (6,563) 233 (295411) 9,783 (74,997) 7414 12,701 1,061,526 1,199,897

Non-
controlling
interests
FER

| 5]

HKS 000
FEr

10,514
(307)

Total
Eh
HKS000
iz

1,210411
96,468

(65)

140

331

Profit for the year T - - - - - - - - - 96,775 96,775
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land &+ R BT E (B4

and buildings - - - - - - - - (65) - (65)
Deferred tax arising on revaluation RETHRBFERELN

of leasehold land and buildings EREHE - - - - - - - - 140 - 140
Share of other comprehensive EEBELAEL2ANE

income of associates - = = - = = 157 = = = 151
Share of other comprehensive ElEsE0E B2 AUS

income of joint ventures - - - - - - 1,099 - - - 1,099
Exchange difference arising from BNEBELNESZE

foreign operations - - - - - - (5,184) - - - (5,184)
Total comprehensive income FRRERAEE

for the year - - - - - - (3,928) - 75 96,775 92922
Recognition of equity-settled ENREEE2IRGA

share-based payment (note 42) ERORR20) - - - - - 3321 - - - = 33
Lapse of equity-settled share-based RN RESENRGE

payment EROAR - - - - - (5.652) - - - 5,652 -
Dividends paid to shareholders (note /3) RRERFRE (413 - - - - - - - - - (13,866) (13,866
Dividends paid to non-controling AEEREREARS

interests = = = = = = = = = = =
Capital contribution from FEREROTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - -

(5,513)

(13,866)

(5513)

At 31 December 2023 RZBZZF+ZR=T-H 42,019 441,102 (6,563) 233 (295411) 7452 (78,925) 1414 12,776 1,150,087 1,282,274
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REEZREEHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE_Z-_=f+_A=+—HIEE

At 1 January 2022

Profit for the year

Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land
and buildings

Deferred tax arising on revaluation
of leasehold land and buildings

Share of other comprehensive
income of associates

Share of other comprehensive
income of joint ventures

Exchange difference arising from
foreign operations

Redlassification adjustment upon
disposal of a subsidiary

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment (note 42)

Lapse of equity-settled share-based
payment

Disposal of a subsidiary

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Dividends paid to shareholders (note 73/

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Transfer to statutory reserve

At 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 103

statements.

RZFZ2%-8-8
FRET
BETHREFEHEL

BELHRETERELY
EERA
EEREATDARZELE

BEeECRARRENE
ENEBEENENZE

REE-ZHEATRY
EHARAE

FRRERALE

BANRELEZURG A
ERONR (M)
RIENRBLENRGA

ARAHR
HE-FHBAA
HEHELAR
AREEHRE (4i13)
AERREREARS

BREEERRE

RZFZZF+ZA=1-8

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Non-
controlling
interests
FER
&
K000

TET

14271
3,065

3.177)
(1.207)

(1,900)

Total
it

HKS 000
TET

1,116,536
139,809

(623)
288
(515)
(920)

(39,995)

ARARRREER
Share Property

Share Share Treasury Capital Spedial awards  Translation  Statutory  revaluation  Retained
capital  premium stock reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total

it B s B RhER 31 EE NEER #2
s B it B S B i L B & ik
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00 HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000 HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET TET FET FET FET FET FET FET

(Note 36(a) (Note 36(b)) (Note 361¢)
(K360 (Hz36) (H2360)

209 410 (6563 (22,681)  (295411) 9,700 (51,794) 15,915 13036 956,942 1,102,265
- - - - - - - - - 136,744 136,744
- - - - - - - - (623) - (623)
- - - - - - - - 88 - 288
- - - - - - (515) - - - (s15)
- - - - - - (920) - - - (920)
- - - - - - (39,457) - - - (39,457)
- - - - - - 17,689 - - - 17,689
- - - - - - (23203) - (335) 136,744 113,206
- - - - - 8780 - - - - 8,780
- - - - - (8,697) - - - 8,697 -
- - - 22,046 - - - (8338) - (13,708) -
- - - 2958 - - - - - - 2958
- - - - - - - - - 21312 (1312
- - - - - - - (163) - 163 -
4,019 441,102 (6,563) 2383 (295,411) 9,783 (74,997) 7414 12,701 1,061,526 1,199,897

to 244 form part of these financial

TECCFFE BEEERREHEENEARAE
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GERERE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE_T_=F+_A=+—BHIFE

2023 2022
—_=EF_-—
Notes HK$ ‘000 HK$°000
Jokza FHT FET
Operating activities RESEE
Profit before taxation B %52 A& 121,452 140,777
Adjustments for: FEE
Interest revenue F B U A 7 (21,506) (2,485)
Finance costs B & A AR 9 2,039 2,577
Share of results of associates ﬁéﬁffﬂﬁﬁ%’& EE3 20 75 (708)
Share of results of joint ventures EIhEETEEE 21 (2,574) 7,204
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BERRETE
equipment 11 6,627 9,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 11 25,753 34,216
Amortisation of intangible assets A 11 1,663 1,794
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - WER&H
and equipment ol g 8 (171) (645)
Gain on early termination of RERITBEEHOZ
lease contracts U & 8 (354) (18)
Net impairment loss recognised RHEEEERIT
under expected credit loss model R EESEFE 11 3,036 8,440
Fair value changes of financial asset BATEGFABRRD
at fair value through profit or loss EPREEZNA $1E“@J 8 (37) 11,553
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary LE-—RMBEBAFNKZE 8 - (1,745)
Equity-settled share-based payment IR E 2 AR
BEBE R 42 3,321 8,780
Impairment loss on interests REeL@rtERNREEE
in joint ventures 21 13,000 -
Fair value changes of investment "EMERNTFEE
properties 8 277 785
Write back of long outstanding payables BB REARAIMEMNZE 7 3) (397)
COVID-19 related rent concessions 2 U ERCOVID-19
received HEESER (86) (396)
Operating cash flows before movements EEEEATNLE
in working capital REeERE 152,512 219,696
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables 2 5 IE () m (260,410) 365,922
Decrease in contract assets EHEERD 26,222 88,288
Decrease in other receivables, HEMpEREIE - mek
deposits and prepayments T8 R 1,903 13,826
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures JE U & 4 1 2 Z I8 )i 5,065 15,606
Increase in amounts due from associates JFE Ui Bt & R B FRIE A 0 (2,183) (55)
Increase (decrease) in trade and g5 N E M EN A
other payables o CRA) 278,888 (303,817)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities /E.\%’U% B3 O ) 591 (38,077)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to JFE 1~ Bt & B FRIE A 0
associates (R ) 1,760 (114)
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to JEHH/\W%
fellow subsidiaries (i) 12 (399,253) 391,343
Cash (used in) generated from operations 44 (FH)FTEAR S (194,905) 752,618
Income taxes paid BEFTER (50,975) (53,979)
Net cash (used in) generated from KESTEH (FR) B
operating activities REFHE (245,880) 698,639
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-FT-_-F+-HA=+—RHLFE

2023 2022
—_EF-—
HK$000
FET
Investing activities RETH
Interest received B W F B 21,506 2,485
Net cash inflow on acquisition of WHEMNBARMNES
subsidiaries MAFEE - 2,743
Net cash outflow on disposal of HE—BEHBAERN
a subsidiary WML FEE - (40,913)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEE Y% F/E L& E 16 (4,728) (3,557)
Purchase of intangible assets BERTAE 19 (4,623) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BEEEED
plant and equipment Fr 1S 3038 514 1,142
Proceeds from (payment for) early kiﬂﬂ:ﬁ&/\%’] L 21
termination of lease contracts (ZH) % 330 (64)
(Advance to) repayment from associates kNI E-E )
i %’L\\ 75&& (3,584) 312
Advance to joint ventures maEhERR (563) (36)
Advance to immediate holding company MEEBEZERAFRR (106) -
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits hﬂiﬂﬁwﬁfﬁ T_/TA 29,190 1,064
Placement of pledged bank deposits FRE EPRITIE K (12,325) (30,413)
Withdrawal (placement) of a fixed bank TRE (175 BB H B8
deposit with maturity more than 3 months =1 A # & 83R 1717 X 45,591 (49,446)
Repayment from (advance to) fellow B XM E QA ER
subsidiaries (T [F 5 BB 2 =) 850 43,984 (43,984)
Net cash outflow from financial assets EAFEFAERD
at fair value through profit or loss TREENHE SR
SHEE - (10,197)
Proceeds from debt investment REBHK AT ED
at amortised cost BRI E TS IA - 14,077
Investment in debt investment Txéf??izﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁd’iﬁ’\]
at amortised cost BFKE = (7,071)
Net cash generated from (used in) REZHHB(MARE
investing activities FE 115,186 (163,858)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_T_=F+_A=+—HLEFE

Financing activities

Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts
Repayment to joint ventures

Advance from associates

Advance from fellow subsidiaries
Interests paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Dividends paid to equity shareholders of
the company

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

Analysis of the balances of cash and
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash

The notes on pages 103 to 244 form part of these financial

statements.

2023 2022
—EF-= —_ET-=
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Jokza FHT FET
mESEE
RITBE LI CRL) 34 794 (5,238)
MAeEBTEER - (959)
B & N BB 7,081 425
BRI =NGIE-E 441 564
B F B (2,039) (2,577)
[A) E4E iR 25 TR A5 AR 2 (5,512) (1,900)
A AN 2 7 55 I EOR A R B
(13,866) (27,312)
BEREE2EXRES (27,023) (33,589)
EERERZTE
1,690 -
MEZBFTARSFEE (38,434) (70,586)
BEPRESEEY (RD)
NS EE (169,128) 464,195
ENRERBEBESEEY
998,365 567,828
INEEREEHTE (6,208) (33,658)
FRESRRESEEY
823,029 998,365
BERRSEBYEGBIW
RITHEHR MRS 823,029 998,365

—#5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST

e B R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE_T_=F+_A=+—BHIFE

1.

GENERAL

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law in the Cayman Islands on 6
March 2013 and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 11 July 2014. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is Shanghai Yuantong
Jiaolong Investment Development (Group) Co., Ltd.,
a company incorporated in the PRC. The intermediate
holding company of the Company is YTO Express
Group Co., Ltd., a joint stock limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC with its shares listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. The immediate holding
company of the Company is YTO Global Holdings
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong. The address of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are
Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 92,
Grand Cayman KY1-1103, Cayman Islands and Suite
2208, 22nd Floor, Office Tower, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of associates, joint ventures
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 20, 21 and 45
respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed in note 3.
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RAEFMKZ RS BRAFE
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NARBREBEIMEK I ZERAFE
BEBRIZERBR QR AR a /M
MERRETZELEME MU DR A
Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 92, Grand Cayman
KY1-1103, Cayman Islands& & B h
BELNEIVRARRNES P A RNE22
#2208% -

b

RAB—REEERAG BERQ
ACAETCERHNBRARNEBEEK
B E T FE20 ~ 21 %45 o

Zl

W

EX
Bl

N 2

EMBHRRLEBIT([EBET])Z
CHEARRBNINEEEAR -

i

A BB
BHREH

HEMBHREIEREMBEER
FEMHREER ([FEYH
BEEL] ZoEEREEES
AEHAE([BEAEAEAE])
MM 2 P B A E B & B RS
HEER -FESFAEA([F
e ER]) RRE) BERQ
REFRAURFTERAGIZ
ERBERERR % T W
XNBTEABARXIMER
AREF EMRAUNZERARE
R -AEERANERNG R
RILBENMES -

(a)

“E-FFH EEBBRREHEERSEARAR 103



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

Bt %5 R R P RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-A=+—HILEE

2.

104

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”) and the Group's interests in associates
and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, certain property, plant and
equipment and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values or revalued amounts
as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-—A=+t—HILEE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-A=+—HILEE

2.

106

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and
amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting
period:

. HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates
and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2, Making materiality
Jjudgements.: Disclosure of accounting
policies

° Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

. Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model
rules

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group's results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T ="+ _A=1t—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-A=+—HILEE

108

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-—A=+t—HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-A=+—HILEE

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. If after reassessment, the net amount
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity's net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the noncontrolling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed of directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less any accumulated impairment losses,
if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition
is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit, the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or
joint ventures are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
its interest in that associate or joint venture (which
included any long-term interest that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEE:HE @

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures REBEARARGELENESR
(continued) (#&)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is %%&?ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ%@ﬂié\ B
accounted for using the equity method from the EH O HBEARNAELENRE
date on which the investee becomes an associate or RARERIAAR W ﬁ%ﬁ’\ﬂsv%ﬂﬂ
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in FEEPENRER REKNEKHBR
associates or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of REEDMZBEREFABNEE R
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair a8 %A$@T§E’]E{—J*B A TR R
value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee B WG AREREE AEBE MG
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the G a‘kEJé;‘*&f@lﬁ AR BB A TF
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 13@&§ﬁ)6$5’]1fﬁ%%§ R
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable S A HE AR R IB R R o

assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective AEEFERSARTE I BREHNE
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint ERAIRAELEZBEKE RE.

venture may be impaired. When any objective EFEEHEBER RENEHER
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the E(BEBE)RBEEESAERSE
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment 36EAE —EEBBLEERE KD
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by HE(FERAEBEEQFEBR D EKRA
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in MEReE) BEEAEARZETRE:
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying ERANTAREEBERETITSOREE#
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allowed EJZ&%SEEETEE’]—*B WEREE (8
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of EEE) BRRESENEMED
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of BIEEBGAEREI6CH T AHER

that impairment loss is recognised in accordance HKAS R EMAIR S 2 EEE D] TEmMo

36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
or a joint venture, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group
acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Except for management fee and information technology
("IT") service fee income, all revenue are derived from
the Group's ordinary course of business. Management
fee and IT service fee income are recognised over time
by the Group's performance as the Group performs and
included in other income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value at the date
of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase
is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of such leasehold land and
buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset. Depreciation on revalued land and building
is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or revalued amount of items of property, plant and
equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Items may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable

future economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets
(continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual
cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The Group assesses
whether there is indication that corporate assets may
be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on
a reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if otherwise.

FESFBER #)
RERERAEESE

RBEHRABRTEDE BE
LEREEEREE UETE
BEEGEMNBERBEDRSR W
ﬁ&ﬂﬁ%ﬂ% BlfE T HRBEE E M
e &R UETREEBE(WE)
HIRTE o

ME - BEMIKBREREEENA
Yol & &8 J5 8 3L fh 5t o W UK A E
HEENAKLOSRE AKES K
SAAREEMBREEABMM KD
TR

ﬁt@\\' RIEEAEAEYAE M
DEEEFDETERREELEL -

TE'JTBZ””‘"HE:TL?L B -3y
REENBESELEEMKNER X

SEHEL ﬁﬁ%@?”?éFTm
MR EETE  HFEBBHLR
A AR EEMBNREEEEM K
ReELfBUMANEE T KBRS
VERBBRSELAEUXBCELE
7 48 Bl RO RR ED (B E 1T LB »

A] Y E 8RR TR R AR
REEZRANRSE NFEERE
BE A RRRASRESERAVA
BERE(RRUEEEHEEREE
(RBESELEN) (EERASRE
e R T E) TR R AOREF TS
AEEBREREREBE-WMAAESER
—BNERLETOR AAREE

M—BMoREESOE TEMNRSE
EEM BN ETRINEAESES
BAzAR -

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE-_E-_=—f+-—A=+t—HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generation units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash generating unit or a group of cash-generation
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest revenue and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest revenue
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest revenue is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest revenue is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains or losses” line item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, rental
deposits, amounts due from immediate holding
company, joint ventures, associates, a related company
and fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) and other items (contract assets) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract
assets, trade receivables and trade balances due
from associates and joint ventures. To measure the
ECL, contract assets and trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
respectively. In addition, trade receivables and contract
assets with possible credit-impairment are assessed for
ECL individually. The ECL for trade balances due from
associates and joint ventures are assessed individually.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 month ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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